Labor Contract Between

THE STATE OF NEBRASKA

and

The Law Enforcement Bargaining Unit

represented by

THE STATE LAW ENFORCEMENT BARGAINING COUNCIL (SLEBC)

JULY 1, 2025 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	-	Preamble	2
ARTICLE 2	-	Definitions	2
ARTICLE 3	-	Council Recognition	3
ARTICLE 4	-	Management Rights	4
ARTICLE 5	-	Council Security	6
ARTICLE 6	-	Prohibition of Strikes and Lockouts	9
ARTICLE 7	-	Disciplinary Rights and Procedures and Investigatory Suspension	
		(Game and Parks and Fire Marshal)	10
ARTICLE 8	-	Grievance Procedure	
ARTICLE 9	-	Seniority	21
ARTICLE 10	-	Hours of Work and Days Off	24
ARTICLE 11	-	Leave Provisions	
ARTICLE 12	-	Outside Employment	41
ARTICLE 13	-	Residency	
ARTICLE 14	-	Moving Expenses	
ARTICLE 15	-	Promotions	
ARTICLE 16	-	Policy Changes and Personnel Records	
ARTICLE 17	-	Committees	
ARTICLE 18	-	Layoffs-Recall-Reinstatement	
ARTICLE 19	-	Working Out of Classification	
ARTICLE 20	-	Uniforms and Equipment	
ARTICLE 21	-	Wage Administration	
ARTICLE 22	-	Insurance	
ARTICLE 23	-	Original Probationary Period	
ARTICLE 24	-	Overtime	
ARTICLE 25	-	Legal Defense and Liability Claims Indemnification	
ARTICLE 26	-	Tuition Assistance	
ARTICLE 27	-	Employee Assistance Program	
ARTICLE 28	-	Printing	
ARTICLE 29	-	Disciplinary Rights and Procedures and Investigatory Suspension (State Patrol only)	
ARTICLE 30	_	Emergency Conditions	
ARTICLE 31	_	Savings Clause	
ARTICLE 32	_	Miscellaneous	
ARTICLE 33	_	Voluntary and Involuntary Transfer & Resignations	
ARTICLE 34	_	Duration of Agreement	
ARTICLE 35	_	Employee Drug and Alcohol Testing	
APPENDIX A	-	Authorization for Payroll Deduction	
APPENDIX B	_	Revocation of Payroll Deduction	
APPENDIX C	_	Moving Expenses	
APPENDIX D	_	Garrity Warning	
APPENDIX E	_	Pay Plan (Appendix E)	
APPENDIX F	_	Fire Marshal	
APPENDIX G	-	Annual Vacation Bidding Form	
Signature Page	-		
Index			
muca			90

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE

1.1 Objective

The parties mutually agree that their objective is for the good and welfare of the State of Nebraska and Council members alike. Both parties further agree that in the interest of collective bargaining and harmonious relations they will at all times abide by the terms and conditions as hereinafter set forth and agreed upon. The State of Nebraska and Council regard all personnel as public employees who are to be governed by high ideals of honor and integrity in all public and personal conduct so as to merit the trust and confidence of the general public and fellow employees.

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS

- Agency A Department of the State of Nebraska employing persons within the bargaining unit.
- Association Shall mean one of the Associations which make up the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council.
- Association Officer Shall mean duly elected officer of an agency employee organization of bargaining unit members.
- Association Representative A member of the bargaining unit that has been designated by the Association to represent bargaining unit members in the grievance process.
- **Bargaining Unit** Those classifications, ranks, and jobs which have been determined by the Commission of Industrial Relations or agreement of the parties to be represented exclusively by the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council.
- **Bargaining Unit Member** All sworn officers holding a rank which is within the bargaining unit, regardless of membership status in the Association.
- **Class Specification** The official written description of a class of work which defines the classification, lists some of the more typical tasks of the classification and the supervision exercised and received.
- **Classification** A group of positions sufficiently similar as to the duties performed, degree of supervision exercised or required, minimum requirements of training, experience or skill and such other characteristics so the same title and the same tests of fitness may be applied to each position in the group and so the same pay line may be assigned.
- **Classification Seniority** The amount of time in years, months and days which a bargaining unit member has continuously held a classification, including breaks in service of one year or less.

- **Council** Bargaining unit employees represented by the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council.
- **Day/Workday** A workday for suspensions and leave shall be the hours in an employee's normally scheduled work day, e.g. 8 hours for employees working 8 hours a day and 10 hours for employees working 10 hours a day. A workday for holidays shall be 8 hours. For the purposes of grievance administration only shall exclude Saturday, Sunday, and State observed holidays.
- **Director/Agency Head or Designee** The Director/Agency Head of a Department employing persons within the bargaining unit or his/her designee.
- **Emergency** Escape, riot, fire, hostage situation, natural disaster, or other similar situation, declared by the Director, which threatens or may threaten the security of the institution, work area or safety of the public, employees and/or offenders, others.
- **Employee** An employee in a regular full-time or part-time position.
- Employer The State of Nebraska and shall not include any political subdivision thereof.
- Fiscal Year Shall mean the fiscal year of the State of Nebraska (July 1 June 30).

Patrol - The Nebraska State Patrol.

- **Personnel Files or Personnel Records** The official personnel records of bargaining unit members which are maintained at the Agency.
- Policies and Procedures The formal, written policies and procedures of the employing agency.
- **Service Anniversary Date** The service date is the date of hire for a new employee. The service date for rehired employees shall be adjusted by the number of calendar days absent if reemployed within one year. Suspensions without pay and leaves of absence which exceed 30 calendar days (except military leave) also require adjustment of the service date. Employees who left state service for other than disciplinary reasons and return within one year shall be given credit for previous state service by having their service date reinstated minus the amount of time absent. The service anniversary date shall be the date used for calculating vacation and sick leave accumulation.

Superintendent - The Superintendent of the Nebraska State Patrol.

ARTICLE 3 - COUNCIL RECOGNITION

3.1 <u>Council Recognition</u>

The Employer, hereinafter referred to as the State, recognizes the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council, hereinafter referred to as the Council, as the exclusive representative of all bargaining unit members in classifications as listed below for the duration of this contract:

Classification	Class Codes
State Patrol Trooper	L64111
State Patrol Investigation Officer	L64210
State Patrol Sergeant	L64112
State Patrol Investigation Sergeant	L64211
Game & Parks Conservation Officer	L64511
Game & Parks Sergeant	L64512
Game & Parks Investigation Officer	L64520
Fire Marshal Deputy	L62111

3.2 <u>Information</u>

- 3.2.1 The Council agrees to furnish to the State a complete list of all officers and representatives of the Council together with their titles, addresses, designation of responsibility, no later than July 1 of each year, and to keep such list current.
- 3.2.2 In the event that any new classes are developed, or significant revisions are made to existing classes, during the term of this Contract, the Agency will notify the Council as to whether it considers the class as included or excluded from the bargaining unit within one calendar quarter of the adoption of the classification by the State Personnel Division. If the Council does not agree with the Agency's position, a joint committee composed of two representatives of the Agency and two representatives of the Council will meet to make a good faith effort to determine the disposition of the classification.
- 3.2.3 If the parties are unable to reach agreement through the joint committee as to the inclusion or exclusion of new or existing classifications from the bargaining unit, they shall submit such classifications to the Commission of Industrial Relations or appropriate forum for unit clarification.

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

4.1 <u>Retention of Rights</u>

4.1.1 All management rights, functions, responsibilities, and authority not specifically limited by the express terms of this Agreement are retained by the Employer and remain exclusively within the rights of the Employer. No right enumerated herein shall be exercised or enforced in a manner contrary to or inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement unless action is required per Article 30.

4.2 Certain Rights Specified

- 4.2.1 These rights, powers, and authority of the State include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - 4.2.1.1 The right to determine, effectuate, and implement the objectives and goals of the State.
 - 4.2.1.2 The right to manage and supervise all operations and functions of the State.
 - 4.2.1.3 The right to establish, allocate, schedule, assign, modify, change, and discontinue State operations, functions, departments, work shifts, and working hours subject to the terms of this labor contract.
 - 4.2.1.4 The right to establish, modify, change, and discontinue work standards and enforce employee's quality and quantity standards subject to the terms of this labor contract.
 - 4.2.1.5 The right to hire, examine, promote, train, transfer, assign, and retain bargaining unit members; suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against bargaining unit members for just cause; and to relieve bargaining unit members from duties due to lack of work or funds subject to the terms of this labor contract.
 - 4.2.1.6 The right to increase, reduce, change and modify, the size of the work force subject to the terms of this labor contract.
 - 4.2.1.7 The right to determine, establish, set, and implement policies for the selection, training, and promotion of bargaining unit members subject to the terms of this labor contract.
 - 4.2.1.8 The right to establish, implement, modify, and change financial policies, accounting procedures, process of goods or services, public relations, and procedures and policies for the safety, health, and protection of State property and personnel.
 - 4.2.1.9 The right to adopt, modify, change, enforce, or discontinue any existing rules, regulations, procedures, and policies which are not in direct conflict with any provision of this Agreement.
 - 4.2.1.10 The right to contract out for goods and services.
 - 4.2.1.11 The right to introduce new or improved methods, equipment, or facilities.

ARTICLE 5 - COUNCIL SECURITY

5.1 <u>Dues Check-Off</u>

- 5.1.1 Upon receipt of a lawfully executed written authorization from an employee, which may be revoked in writing at any time on the prescribed form as set out in Article 5.1.4 below, the State agrees to deduct the regular monthly Council dues of such employee from his/her pay and remit such deduction by the 30th day of the succeeding month to the official designated by the Council in writing to receive such deduction. The Council will notify the Employer in writing of the exact amount of such regular membership dues to be deducted.
- 5.1.2 Such dues shall be authorized, levied and certified in accordance with the constitution and bylaws of the Council. Each Council member who is a member of the bargaining unit hereby authorizes the Employer to rely on and honor certifications regarding the amount to be deducted and the legality of the adopting action specifying such amounts of Council dues together with a copy of such authorization from the Council.
- 5.1.3 The Employer agrees to provide this service to the Council provided that if there is a change in the amount of dues, or some other change requires the processing of all or nearly all deduction authorizations, the Council shall provide assistance to the various agencies Personnel or Accounting Divisions in completing the necessary payroll deduction change forms required to accomplish the changes.
- 5.1.4 The authorization and revocation of authorization for payroll deductions shall be on approved forms attached hereto as Appendixes A and B.
- 5.1.5 The Council agrees to indemnify and hold the State harmless against any and all claims, suits, orders or judgments brought or issues against the State as a result of any action taken or not taken by the State under the provisions of this Article as a result of loss or improper use of Council funds due them from payroll deductions after the State has delivered said funds to a verified Council representative.
- 5.2 <u>Non-Discrimination</u>
 - 5.2.1 The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied to all members in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to protected age, sex, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, physical disability, or political affiliation. Each of the parties hereto recognize their individual responsibilities under this paragraph and agree to fulfill those responsibilities.
 - 5.2.2 The Employer shall not discriminate against, interfere with, restrain, or coerce a bargaining unit member from exercising the right to join or not join the Council, or participate in an official capacity on behalf of the Council, which is in accordance with public law and the provisions of this Agreement. The Council

shall not discriminate against, interfere with, restrain or coerce a bargaining unit member from exercising the right to join or not join the Council.

- 5.2.3 The parties recognize that the jurisdiction for the enforcement of Anti-Discrimination Laws is vested solely in the various state and federal agencies and the courts.
- 5.2.4 The parties hereby agree that no officers, agents, representatives, members or anyone connected with either party shall in any manner intimidate, coerce, restrain, or interfere with the rights of employees to form, join, or assist labor organizations, or to refrain from any of these activities, including the right of bargaining unit members to withdraw, revoke, or cancel Council membership.

5.3 <u>Council Business</u>

- 5.3.1 Association Representative
 - 5.3.1.1 Management recognizes that one of the prime functions of the Council is to represent bargaining unit members and investigate complaints of members of the bargaining unit.
 - 5.3.1.2 The Employer shall allow two (2) bargaining unit members to act as Council Representatives and to carry out grievance representation activities in each Troop Area or District at the State Patrol. At the Game and Parks Commission the Employer shall allow one (1) bargaining unit member to act as a Council Representative and to carry out grievance representation activities in each District. At the State Fire Marshal the Employer shall allow one (1) bargaining unit member to act as a Council Representative and to carry out grievance representation activities in each district and the one division covered. A total of thirty (30) representatives shall be allowed to represent bargaining unit members in the complaint or grievance process.

5.3.2 <u>Investigating Grievances</u>

- 5.3.2.1 At the request of a bargaining unit member, a representative may investigate a complaint of any bargaining unit member assigned to the same Troop Area or District as the representative. Each representative shall be allowed two (2) work hours per week, excluding reasonable travel time, to investigate complaints and represent bargaining unit members in meetings or hearings related to complaints.
- 5.3.2.2 Representatives shall not leave their assigned work area to investigate complaints or represent bargaining unit members without permission of their immediate supervisor who is outside the bargaining unit. The supervisor shall not unreasonably withhold approval if adequate coverage is available, assignments are covered, and no overtime is

incurred. The representative shall inform his/her immediate supervisor outside of the bargaining unit upon his/her return to work.

- 5.3.2.3 No overtime shall be authorized for representatives when investigating complaints or representing bargaining unit members. No overtime shall be authorized for bargaining unit members while discussing grievances or attending grievance meetings, hearings, or appeals, except as provided in the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- 5.3.2.4 No representative shall be permitted to investigate complaints or represent a bargaining unit member who is assigned to a different Troop Area or District than the representative. Representatives shall not leave the Troop Area or District to investigate complaints unless they are using annual leave, holiday leave, or compensatory time. Representatives may represent bargaining unit members at meetings or hearings located in Lincoln at State Headquarters or before the State Personnel Board or at arbitration hearings. Nothing in this section shall preclude the Association or Council President or his/her designated representative from conferring with the appropriate agency official in the informal settlement of grievances.

5.3.3 <u>Meetings</u>

- 5.3.3.1 Meetings scheduled by the Agency relative to complaints or grievances shall normally be scheduled Monday through Friday, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.
- 5.3.3.2 Meetings and hearings may extend beyond 5:00 p.m., however, no overtime will be authorized for the representative's attendance at hearings or meetings relative to complaints or grievances.

5.3.4 <u>Third Parties</u>

5.3.4.1 Bargaining unit members who are third parties to a complaint or grievance (e.g. witness) shall be allowed to discuss complaints or grievances with representatives of the bargaining unit members or the bargaining unit member for up to one-half hour during their regular shift. Such meetings shall be approved in advance by the bargaining unit member's commander or supervisor. Approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

5.3.5 <u>Bulletin Boards</u>

5.3.5.1 The employer agrees to furnish adequate space on bulletin boards presently maintained by the Agency at post and work areas occupied by bargaining unit members. Such bulletin boards shall be limited to one per facility and shall be in areas reasonably calculated to reach bargaining unit members.

5.3.5.2 Material to be placed on the bulletin boards shall be limited to notices of Council recreational and social activity, charitable activity, pertinent information or news concerning bargaining, law enforcement information, survey information, thank you notes and photographs of the same, and other pertinent Council business, Council elections and results of such elections, Council appointments, notice of Council meetings and reports and minutes thereof or legislation affecting and of interest to the members of the bargaining unit. The Council further agrees that it will not post any material which is profane or derogatory to any individual or to the employer. All bulletins or notices shall be signed by the Council President or other authorized officer of the Council. The Council will be responsible for the proper use and care of the bulletin board.

5.3.6 <u>Recruit Camp</u>

5.3.6.1 The State shall allow the Council to meet with State Trooper Candidates and other bargaining unit candidates, where applicable, once during each recruit camp or training period at a time that is mutually agreed to by the parties. Such access will be during the normally scheduled training day and limited to one (1) hour. In addition, the Council shall be permitted to provide notice to the candidates of a meeting in subsequent weeks during off duty time.

5.3.7 <u>Association Officers - Attendance at Meetings</u>

- 5.3.7.1 Council officers may use annual leave, holiday leave, or compensatory time off to attend to Council business, represent the Council at conferences, etc. Such leave shall be requested, in writing, at least five (5) calendar days in advance, and shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 5.4. The State will not abolish or change any bargaining unit classifications for the purpose of depriving the bargaining unit members of their benefits under this Agreement.
- 5.5 The Agency Head shall determine the amount of work time, if any, which may be provided to the Council President to conduct Council business.

ARTICLE 6 - PROHIBITION OF STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS

Neither party shall hinder, delay, limit or suspend the continuity of any government service by lockout, strike, sympathy action, slowdown or other work or to coerce, instigate, induce, conspire with, intimidate or encourage any person to participate in any lockout, strike, sympathy action, slowdown or other work stoppage which would hinder, delay, limit or suspend the continuity or efficiency of any governmental service; or to aid or assist any such lockout, strike, sympathy action, slowdown or other work stoppage by giving direction or guidance in the conduct of any

such lockout, strike, sympathy action, slowdown or other work stoppage or by providing funds for the conduct or direction thereof, or for the payment of strike unemployment or other benefits to those participating therein.

ARTICLE 7 - DISCIPLINARY RIGHTS AND PROCEDURES AND INVESTIGATORY SUSPENSION

(Game and Parks and Fire Marshal)

7.1 <u>Discipline</u>

- 7.1.1 Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Employer shall conduct all disciplinary matters in conformance with due process as provided for in this labor contract. Disciplinary action shall include one of the following:
 - 1. written warning
 - 2. disciplinary probation
 - 3. suspension
 - 4. demotion
 - 5. reduction in pay
 - 6. discharge

Except that disciplinary probation may be used in conjunction with any of the forms of discipline except written warning and discharge.

Demotion and reduction in pay may also be used as a combination for disciplinary purposes.

- 7.1.2 Disciplinary actions shall be based upon good faith for just cause for violations of:
 - A. Policies and Procedures or General Orders of the Agency,
 - B. This agreement.

7.2 Imposition of Discipline

- 7.2.1 When imposing discipline, management shall not take into consideration any offense which is more than twenty-four (24) months old. Disciplinary action shall not be instituted against a bargaining unit employee when the alleged misconduct is or could have been discovered with reasonable diligence within a period of twelve (12) months from the date of alleged misconduct unless the offense would constitute a Class IV felony or higher grade of felony.
- 7.2.2 All complaints alleging misconduct of less than serious nature which are received more than ninety (90) days after the alleged incident took place, shall not result in discipline to the employee.

7.2.3 The parties agree that the progressive discipline techniques should be the primary focus when considering the level of discipline to be used. The use of progressive discipline shall take into consideration the nature, related disciplinary history and severity of the infraction when considering the level of discipline to be suggested or imposed. The goal of progressive discipline is to apply the minimum level of discipline which will bring the employee's performance to the expected level.

7.3 <u>Due Process</u>

- 7.3.1 Discipline shall be conducted in accordance with due process, as provided for in this labor contract, and good faith for just cause.
- 7.3.2 Bargaining unit employees shall be entitled to a fair and impartial investigation when, in the course of the employee's scope of employment, the employer deems an investigation necessary. Employees will assist and expedite administrative investigations and, when requested by investigative officers, furnish information or give statements as witnesses within the guidelines specified in this Agreement.
- 7.3.3 An employee's immediate family shall not be interviewed unless party to the complaint or at the specific request of the bargaining unit employee.
- 7.3.4 An employee may request an administrative investigation pertaining to any allegations or rumors which may adversely affect his/her credibility, integrity, or reputation. However, nothing shall obligate the Agency to conduct such an investigation. The bargaining unit employee shall be notified as to the status of such request.
- 7.3.5 There shall be no "off the record" discussions with a bargaining unit employee.
- 7.3.6 The employee's supervisor shall not be the hearing officer if he or she is the complaining party, a witness, or will provide any evidence against the employee.

7.4 <u>Notification</u>

7.4.1 In the event that the consequences of the offense require immediate suspension, follow-up written notification will be provided within forty-eight (48) hours.

7.5 <u>Investigatory Suspension</u>

7.5.1 A supervisor shall meet with a bargaining unit employee prior to the bargaining unit employee being placed on investigatory suspension. At such a meeting, the supervisor shall inform the bargaining unit employee of the reason for the investigatory suspension and the date and time the suspension shall commence and that the bargaining unit employee is not required to answer any questions.

- 7.5.2 Investigatory suspensions shall be reduced to writing as soon as practical after the meeting with the supervisor.
- 7.5.3 When the Employer determines that an employee must be removed from a current work assignment pending the completion of an investigation and the administrative processing of the case, the object of which is to determine if disciplinary action is warranted, the Employer may:
 - a. Reassign the employee to another work assignment at their current rate of pay until the investigation is completed.
 - b. Suspend the employee from work without pay until the investigation is completed or until twenty (20) work days have elapsed, whichever occurs first. However, the investigation may continue after the suspended employee returns to a paid status. The Employer agrees to pay the Employer's portion for group insurance during the period of suspension without pay.
 - c. Suspend the employee from work with pay until the investigation is completed.

7.6 <u>Routine Supervisory Guidance</u>

- 7.6.1 Day-to-day discussions, comments, criticisms, and guidance made by a supervisor to a bargaining unit employee shall not be construed as discipline. They shall be considered as routine supervisory guidance.
- 7.6.2 Any routine supervisory guidance which is placed into writing in the supervisor's working notes or supervisory files shall be destroyed after the date on which the supervisor and bargaining unit employee review and discuss the bargaining unit employee's next annual performance evaluation or within fifteen (15) months, whichever occurs first.
- 7.6.3 The Supervisory Observation Form shall not be considered as supervisory working notes, but as documentation and justification for the performance evaluation covering a specific time period. The Supervisory Observation Form shall be initialed by the bargaining unit employee within fourteen (14) days of the date of occurrence. Supervisory Observation Forms shall be attached to the employee's annual performance evaluation when the annual performance evaluation is completed.

INVESTIGATORY PROCESS

- 7.7 <u>Procedures and Safeguards</u>
 - 7.7.1 The Agency may conduct investigations to discover the facts and circumstances surrounding any complaint, allegation, or suspicion of wrongdoing by a

bargaining unit employee. However, the Agency will take precautions to protect the rights and privacy of personnel being investigated.

- 7.7.2 Investigations conducted by the Agency will not commit any act which would deprive the bargaining unit employee of any statutory or constitutional rights or privileges.
- 7.7.3 The Employer will provide the employee with copies of all personnel orders pertaining to bargaining unit employees as soon as the personnel orders are issued. As used in this section "personnel orders" shall be defined as all written notices of actual disciplinary actions (notices of intent to take disciplinary actions), transfer notices, promotion notices and termination notices.
- 7.7.4 A bargaining unit employee shall be required to answer only those questions specifically relating to such employee's duties and responsibilities within the scope of his/her employment, and acts or conduct (on or off the job) which adversely affects the employee's performance and/or the employing agency's performance or function.
- 7.7.5 The employee shall be entitled to such reasonable intermissions as he/she shall request for personal necessities.
- 7.7.6 The interview of the employee shall be during regular business hours. With the exception of telephone interviews, interviews shall take place at Employer facilities, or elsewhere if mutually agreed unless an emergency exists which requires the interview to be conducted elsewhere. No employee shall be scheduled for interviews on his/her day off; however, any employee who is interviewed off duty will be compensated.
- 7.7.7 The employee under investigation must, at the time of an interview, be informed of the name of the individual in charge of the investigation and the name of the individual who will be conducting the interview. At the State Fire Marshal, the investigating officer and the individual who will be conducting the interviews shall be one of the District Chief Deputies, the Chief Investigator, or the Fuels Division Manager. An investigating officer may do both duties. At any time an investigation of a complaint, allegation or suspicion of wrongdoing by a bargaining unit employee is determined to involve a violation of a criminal law, the investigation shall be turned over to the Nebraska State Patrol.

INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCESS

7.7.8 A "complaint inquiry" consists of discussion with a bargaining unit employee about allegations of misconduct. The purpose of the complaint inquiry is to provide an optional method to expeditiously resolve complaints. Garrity warnings shall not be given and no advance notice requirements shall apply to the complaint inquiry or the informal complaint resolution process. The bargaining unit employee will be advised at the beginning of a complaint inquiry that he/she is not compelled to provide information. It is understood that an employee participating in a complaint inquiry or the informal complaint resolution process may request representation by the individual of his/her choice; however, the supervisor conducting the inquiry is not obligated to proceed further with the complaint inquiry process or the informal complaint resolution process. Complaint inquiries or the informal complaint resolution process may be conducted by telephone.

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE MEETING

- 7.7.9 A fact-finding meeting or disciplinary meeting shall be distinguished from and shall not include a complaint inquiry or the informal complaint resolution process. A fact-finding meeting shall be a meeting where the bargaining unit employee shall be called in person before a supervisor outside of the bargaining unit and will be compelled to provide information concerning the complaint or allegation for wrongdoing against him/her. The purpose of the fact-finding meeting or disciplinary meeting shall be to ascertain the facts and circumstances pertaining to the complaint or allegation. The employee shall be afforded an opportunity to refute the information or present mitigating circumstances. Every employee who becomes the subject of an internal investigation shall be advised at the time of the interview that he/she is suspected of: a. committing a criminal offense; or b. misconduct that would be grounds for termination, suspension, or other disciplinary action. Garrity warnings shall be given in the appropriate circumstances on the form found at Appendix D.
- 7.7.10 Any bargaining unit employee compelled to attend a fact-finding meeting or disciplinary meeting shall be notified in writing at least seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the meeting. Such written notification shall contain:
 - 1. The date, time, and place of the meeting.
 - 2. The complaint or allegation against the bargaining unit employee.
 - 3. A summary of the facts of the case as known to the Agency. Such summary should set forth the date(s) of the occurrence and sufficient details such that the bargaining unit employee may effectively refute any false information. Confidential sources need not be disclosed in the summary, but the bargaining unit employee shall be notified that the source is confidential. The agency will provide the employee with a copy of any reports and records that will be used by the agency in the fact-finding meeting. The agency will provide the employee with a copy of all relevant reports and records which contain material facts and provide the basis for the fact-finding meeting. Records and reports not reduced to writing will not be considered at any fact-finding or disciplinary proceeding.
 - 4. The right to be represented at the meeting by an attorney, Council representative, other bargaining unit employee, or any other individual of his or her choice.

- 5. The right to request witnesses and present documentary evidence in his or her behalf.
- 6. The representative of the bargaining unit employee as set out in paragraph 4 hereof shall not be disciplined for the act of representing a bargaining unit employee at a fact-finding meeting.
- 1. Prior to such fact-finding meeting the employee or his/her representative shall be given the right to review all existing reports contained in the case file that forms the basis for the requested interview, including copies of any Complaint or Complaint form, but excluding documents containing confidential or privileged information, at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to such meeting. The employee may waive notice and access to the reports.
- 2. "Confidential or privileged" as used herein shall refer to the name or identity of a person providing information about an employee to the Agency and who otherwise fits within the definition of Chapter 27 of the Nebraska State Statutes. Information which the Agency intends to use to impose discipline in the administrative process shall be made available to the employee or his/her representative, but the name or identity of the person providing such information may be removed from the report if the same is deemed "confidential or privileged" as defined herein.

7.8 <u>Citizen Complaint</u>

7.7.11

7.8.1 Citizens' complaints shall not be investigated unless the applicable agency form has been completed and all provisions of the Agency's Policies and Procedures are complied with. A copy of said complaint will be provided to the affected bargaining unit employee. If the notice could hinder the investigation, the investigator assigned may request in writing, permission from the Office of the Director not to give this notice.

Agency Complaint notices shall contain a list of policy and procedure violations which is limited to those provisions which are clearly, in good faith, relevant to the alleged misconduct.

7.9

- 7.9.1 Unless authorized by statute or policy, no bargaining unit employees shall be required to submit to a polygraph examination designed to measure the truthfulness of his or her responses during an investigation of a complaint or allegation of wrongdoing.
- 7.9.2 When a bargaining unit employee is questioned or interviewed concerning a complaint or allegation, he or she will be informed, prior to questioning of the nature of the investigation and whether he or she is a witness or subject at that time. All such interviews and questions shall be conducted in a professional manner.

7.9.3 <u>Investigation Time Limitations</u>

The investigation shall be conducted and submitted to the appropriate Agency authority within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the complaint. The final decision on the matter will be given to the affected employee within a total of forty-five (45) calendar days of receipt of the complaint. EXCEPTIONS - Both parties recognize that the complexity and seriousness of allegations require a complete, thorough, and impartial investigation. In order to accomplish this, protect the employee's and the organization's interests, exceptions to the time limits may be necessary. Should an extension be required, the following steps shall be taken.

- 1. The appropriate investigating individual will request an extension in writing to the Director specifying the reasons.
- 2. The employee shall receive a copy of such request for extension.
- 3. The employee shall receive a copy of the approved extension.
- 7.9.4 A bona fide attempt to interview the complainant shall be made by the Investigator before a fact finding meeting is held, unless the complainant is anonymous.
- 7.9.5 A decision of an employee's appropriate supervisor to forward an allegation of misconduct to the Director or designee shall result in the appropriate supervisor not having further decision making involvement into such investigation although the supervisor may make a recommendation as to the appropriate discipline to be administered.
- 7.9.6 No materials or reports involving an allegation of misconduct which provide the basis for a complaint against an employee shall be entered into any official personnel file nor shall any such allegations be used to enhance discipline of the employee or otherwise be used against the employee in his/her employment where the investigation has exonerated the employee and/or the allegations were determined to be unfounded or not sustained.
- 7.9.7 Bargaining unit employees shall be allowed to obtain a copy of his or her statements made if such statements are reduced to writing or recorded. A copy shall be provided to the bargaining unit employee free of charge and as soon as possible.
- 7.9.8 All personnel data maintained by the Agency Personnel offices in computer data bases, microfilms, and personnel folders shall be secured in strict conformance with state law governing the confidentiality of information. Information concerning an employee's or former employee's name, position, gross salary, date of hire, date of separation, and agency where employed shall be considered public information. Non-public information may be released to the employee, the employee's supervisory chain of command, and/or agency

administrative personnel. Non-public information shall be released to any requesting party provided the employee has signed a release authorization, or an enforceable subpoena, or a court order, or legal warrant is served requesting such information. The agency shall notify an employee or, in the absence of the employee, the association, as soon as practicable upon receipt of a subpoena, order or warrant. In no event shall a subpoena be complied with by the agency unless the employee or his/her representative is first given an opportunity to object and require the requesting party's compliance with any applicable federal or state statute or rule regarding the information subpoenaed.

7.10 Imposition of Discipline

A disciplinary conference shall be conducted between the employee and the agency director, or designee, prior to the imposition of the disciplinary action recommended by the Agency if requested by the employee and the recommended discipline is one of those listed as 3., 4., 5., or 6. in paragraph 7.1.1 (suspension and more serious). The employee shall have the right to be represented in the disciplinary conference by an individual of his/her choice or legal counsel. The employee shall be afforded an opportunity in such conference to address the findings of the agency authority or present mitigating circumstances with respect to its recommendations or findings, all of which shall be disclosed to the employee prior to such disciplinary conference for his/her review. The conference can be conducted either telephonically or in person by the Agency Director or if he/she is unavailable, the assistant agency director. The employee shall receive three (3) working days' notice of any scheduled disciplinary conference.

7.11 <u>Disposition</u>

- 7.11.1 Bargaining unit employees under investigation shall be informed, in writing, of the disposition of the investigations conducted.
- 7.12 <u>Discipline and Leave</u>

An employee who is suspended as part of a disciplinary action may use vacation leave, compensatory time, or holiday compensatory time to receive pay for up to 5 days of the suspension, only when such suspension is a minimum of 10 days in length.

ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 8.1 A grievance is a claimed breach, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the terms of this Agreement.
- 8.2 A grievant is a member(s) of the unit covered by this Agreement or the Council.
- 8.3 A grievance which affects all agency bargaining unit members covered by SLEBC or the entire SLEBC bargaining unit may be initiated by the Council at Step 2 upon majority approval of the SLEBC Board of Directors. The grievant(s) shall present a formal written grievance to the appropriate Agency Head or his/her designee within fifteen (15) work days

of the occurrence of the grieved action or from the day the grievant(s) should have known of the action. The grievance shall be presented on a mutually agreed upon form between the Council and the Employee Relations Division. A grievance filed at Step 2 shall contain a statement of the grievance by describing the issue involved, the date the incident or violation took place, if known, and the section or sections of the contract involved and the specific relief being sought.

8.4 A grievance relating to a dismissal shall be filed at the lowest level which has authority to reinstate the employee. The Agency shall notify the employee and Council at which step such authority lies.

8.5 **Procedure**

Step 1 - Within fifteen (15) work days of the occurrence of the grieved action or from the day the grievant should have known of the action, the grievant shall present a formal written grievance to his/her immediate supervisor upon a mutually agreed form. A grievance shall contain a statement of the grievance by describing the issue involved, the date the incident or violation took place, if known, and the section or sections of the contract involved and the specific relief being sought. The grievance shall state the name of the grievant/grievants authorizing the filing of the grievance and shall be signed by the The immediate supervisor shall make a decision on the grievance and employee. communicate same in writing within five (5) work days to the grievant and the Council. In termination cases or in any other cases where the parties mutually agree, the original grievance shall be filed at Step 2. If the immediate supervisor did not make the grieved decision, he/she shall note that fact on the form, sign it, and forward it to the person who made the decision within two workdays, skipping any levels of intermediate supervision. The person to whom the grievance is forwarded shall make a decision on the grievance and communicate the same in writing within five (5) work days to the grievant and the Council.

<u>Step 2</u> - In the event the grievance is not resolved at the first step, the grievance may be appealed to the appropriate Agency Head or his/her designee within ten (10) work days from the receipt of the answer in Step 1. The Agency Head or his/her designee shall file, in writing, an answer to the grievant within fifteen (15) work days of the receipt of the grievance. A copy of the answer shall be provided to the Council.

<u>Step 3</u> - If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 2, the grievant, or representative, with the approval of the SLEBC Board of Directors, within fifteen (15) work days shall notify the Employee Relations Division Administrator, in writing, that he/she is appealing the grievance to arbitration.

Arbitrators shall be selected from lists developed and mutually agreed upon by the parties. If the parties cannot agree upon an arbitrator, they will request the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service to submit a list of seven names to serve as arbitrator.

If the panel submitted by the FMCS is unacceptable to either party, the parties may request a second list of seven (7) names to select from. If the parties cannot mutually agree upon an arbitrator, both lists shall be combined and the parties will alternately strike names until one name remains. The remaining name shall be the arbitrator. The arbitrator chosen to hear the grievance shall reside or maintain an office within 750 miles from Lincoln, Nebraska.

The arbitrator selected shall confer with the parties, hold a hearing, and issue a decision within thirty (30) days of the hearing. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall set forth his/her findings of fact and reasoning. The arbitrator shall not amend, modify, nullify, or add to the provisions of the agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the Agency and the Council. The decision issued by the arbitrator may be modified, vacated, reversed, or affirmed on application to the District Court in the county where the hearing was held if the decision was clearly erroneous or based upon error of law or is subject to being vacated or modified as otherwise provided in the Uniform Arbitration Act.

The costs of the services of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the Agency and the Council. Any other expenses incurred shall be paid by the party incurring same.

8.6 Discovery Procedures. At any time after a formal, written grievance has been properly filed with an agency, the employee and/or the agency may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending appeal by utilization of one or more the following methods: requests for depositions; requests for interrogatories; requests for production of documents or things; requests for permission to enter agency premises for purpose of inspection; requests for admissions. All discovery requests are subject to the following provisions:

Requests for discovery shall be addressed to the party from which the discovery is sought.

Discovery requests must be provided in writing within ten (10) work days of receipt of request, unless objections are entered. Objections to such requests may be made only to the hearing officer or arbitrator within five (5) work days of receipt of the request. The hearing officer or arbitrator shall affirm or deny such objections within ten (10) work days of receipt of the objections and shall establish time limits for response when objections are denied.

Within five (5) work days of receipt of the discovery requested, the requesting party shall notify the answering party of any failure on the part of the answering party to properly respond to the request.

Except where objections to discovery requests are sustained, the failure to respond to any discovery requests may result in the answering party being denied the right to introduce the requested evidence or such other remedy as is deemed appropriate.

Disputes concerning the discovery process shall be decided by the Employee Relations Division Administrator or where applicable by the hearing officer or other duly appointed person if so appointed at the time of the dispute. Such person shall have the authority to make rulings on objections to discovery by the parties, to issue subpoenas for testimony of witness or for the production of documents. Disputes or objections concerning discovery or the discovery process shall be decided by reference to the Nebraska Supreme Court Discovery Rules, the Nebraska Rules of Evidence, and Nebraska Supreme Court case law.

8.7 General Provisions

An employee or their employee representative shall not use State Mail Services and equipment to file a grievance appeal.

The parties may agree to a meeting at any step of the grievance procedure.

Any time period established herein may be extended upon the mutual written agreement of both parties.

Failure of the employee/grievant to file a grievance or to appeal a decision within the time periods shall result in withdrawal of the grievance.

Failure of the agency to respond to a grievance within the established time periods shall result in the grievance being denied at that level and automatically moved to the next level.

An employee filing a grievance shall not be discriminated against, harassed, retaliated against or in any manner singled out by reason of exercising his/her right of filing a grievance under this contract.

Work days as referenced in the process shall refer to days on which the person responsible for processing the grievance is scheduled to be at work excluding days of approved sick leave, vacation, compensatory time off, or other approved absence.

The grievant shall have the right to be represented by a person of his/her choice at Step 1. The Council shall have the right to be present at any meeting above Step 1. Only 1 person may speak on behalf of the grievant at any grievance meeting.

No grievance shall be moved to Step 3-Arbitration, unless it is approved by a majority vote of the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council Board of Directors. The State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council (SLEBC) Board of Directors shall provide written notice to the Employee Relations Division within 5 work days after the SLEBC Board of Directors has given approval to move a grievance to Step 3 – arbitration.

The parties may agree to a meeting at any step of the grievance procedure including requesting a mediator between Step 2 and Step 3 to attempt to resolve the grievance. Mediation shall be conducted by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service at no cost to the State. The parties shall agree to an extension of the Step 3 time lines from fifteen (15) to thirty (30) work days.

ARTICLE 9 - SENIORITY

9.1 <u>Calculating Seniority</u>

- 9.1.1 Seniority for bargaining unit members in Game & Parks and the Fire Marshal shall commence upon the last date hired into positions covered by the SLEBC Contract in each agency. Copies of the new hire letter will be sent to the SLEBC Office.
- 9.1.2 A Carrier Enforcement Officer who was appointed to a State Patrol Trooper position, will retain his/her seniority from the date he/she became a sworn Carrier Enforcement Officer provided, however, that if said date is earlier than July 1, 1985, it shall be adjusted to July 1, 1985.
- 9.1.3 The seniority for the State Patrol Trooper and State Patrol Investigation Officer, shall be the date he/she became a sworn officer. For Carrier Enforcement Officers who became Troopers, see 9.1.2.
- 9.1.4 Officers currently classified as State Troopers who transitioned from the Carrier Enforcement Division to a State Trooper position between September 1, 1998 and July 19, 2002, shall receive credit for seniority lost during the transition to State Trooper, by being placed on the step in the State Trooper pay line which is equivalent to former recruit camp mates.
- 9.1.5 Carrier Enforcement Area Supervisor and Carrier Enforcement Specialist Supervisors who transitioned to State Patrol Sergeant classifications will retain their classification seniority for purposes identified in Section 9.6.1.

9.2 <u>Seniority Upon Transfer</u>

9.2.1 A bargaining unit member's classification seniority shall be retained upon transfer to another geographic area, division, or section. Classification seniority shall not be lost for any lateral transfer, voluntary or otherwise, subject to the provisions of Section 9.1.1.

9.3 <u>Seniority Upon Promotion</u>

A State Patrol Trooper or State Patrol Investigation Officer who is promoted to Sergeant on or after July 1, 1997, shall receive a seniority date for that classification from the last (most recent) date of promotion to a Sergeant.

9.4 Transfers Outside Bargaining Unit

9.4.1 Bargaining unit members who transfer to positions outside the bargaining unit in the same agency and transfer back into the bargaining unit within one year shall not lose the seniority they had accrued under this contract when they return to the bargaining unit.

9.5 Breaks In Services

9.5.1 An employee who has a break in service of one year or more who is rehired will not have his/her previous accrued seniority reinstated. An individual who is rehired within one year from his/her resignation shall be placed two steps lower on the salary schedule than he/she was on when he/she resigned and lose two years of classification seniority.

9.6 <u>Uses of Seniority</u>

9.6.1 Classification seniority shall be used in granting bargaining unit members preference in days off, shift preference, starting time, holiday leave, and annual leave. For the purposes of this Article, preference shall mean choice of available time off. All days off, annual leave, and holiday leave shall be as requested by the employee subject to adequate coverage which shall not be applied arbitrarily.

9.7 <u>Ties in Seniority</u>

9.7.1 When two unit members have the same classification seniority date, classification seniority shall be determined by a coin toss officiated by the Council. The coin toss shall use the commonly practiced "heads or tails" basis. The winner shall be considered the most senior unit member for the seniority determination at hand, and the first loser shall be the second most senior member for the seniority determination at hand.

When three or more unit members have the same classification seniority date, classification seniority shall be determined by name-drawing out of a hat and officiated by a member of the Council. The first name picked out of the hat shall be considered the most senior unit member for the seniority determination at hand, and the process shall be continued until seniority is determined for all relevant members.

9.8 Work Areas

9.8.1 For the purposes of this Article, work area shall be determined as follows:

All bargaining unit members who report directly to and are immediately supervised by a common person shall be considered to be in the same work area (e.g., all State Patrol Troopers who have the same supervisor shall be considered as in the same work area). For the purposes of the Field Services Division all Sergeants within the same Troop Area shall be understood to be within the same work area. For the purpose of the Carrier Enforcement Division this shall be by duty station in each district (e.g., Interstate Scales, Secondary Permanent Scales, Portables, CVE). Officers assigned to Traffic who work permanent shifts shall bid against officers who work in the same geographical work area.

9.9 <u>Seniority Lists</u>

9.9.1 The State and the Council shall jointly develop a bargaining unit member seniority list. On July 1st of each year, the State shall submit a seniority list to the Council for verification of accuracy. The Council shall either agree with the contents of the list or identify discrepancies on the list and notify the DAS Employee Relations Division of such agreement or disagreement. Should the discrepancies be identified by the Council, the parties shall meet as soon as practicable to resolve those discrepancies. The seniority list shall be finalized no later than July 31st, of the same calendar year. Should the parties be unable to resolve discrepancies by July 31st, the State shall utilize the list they believe to be the most accurate.

9.10 <u>Seniority Date – Lower Pay Line</u>

9.10.1 A bargaining unit member in the State Patrol who is demoted or laid-off to a lower pay line classification, shall have the seniority date he/she obtained prior to leaving that classification.

A bargaining unit member who is promoted to a position from which he/she was removed either voluntarily or involuntarily (for a period in excess of one year) shall have a new seniority date for the date of entry to that classification except a bargaining unit member who is subsequently recalled to a classification from which he/she was laid off shall retain the seniority date he/she held at the time of such layoff.

9.11 <u>Filling Vacancies</u>

- 9.11.1 If more than one candidate meets the minimum qualifications, seniority shall be the prime consideration in filling vacancies in field station positions or other duty stations for bargaining unit members; however, personnel with less than two (2) years' experience in their position/duty station shall be ineligible for lateral transfer, unless the Superintendent or Division Administrator waives this restriction.
- 9.11.2 At the State Patrol, in order to give adequate notice of duty assignment to new trainees, seniority shall not be used to fill vacancies once a list of vacancies has been compiled for assignment from a training camp. However, it is agreed that there shall be two postings per year prior to the positions being filled by new trainees from camp. A vacancy created by a lateral transfer to a first posting is not subject to the aforementioned two postings.
- 9.11.3 For any specialty position or duty assignment, there shall be no requirement that a bargaining unit member employed by the Nebraska State Patrol be at their current duty station for a prescribed number of years before being eligible to apply for the position. Additionally, any position available for lateral transfer which does not change the duty station city of the applicant, shall not require the

applicant to be in the current position for a prescribed number of years before being eligible to apply for the position.

ARTICLE 10 - HOURS OF WORK AND DAYS OFF

10.1 <u>Work Period</u>

10.1.1 The work period for bargaining unit members shall be as follows for the term of this contract:

Game and Parks	160 hours/28 days
Fire Marshal Investigator	80 hours/14 days
Fire Marshal Inspector	40 hours/7 days
Patrol	80 hours/14 days

Such work periods may be changed during this contract with mutual agreement of the parties.

- 10.1.2 The work period of each bargaining unit member shall be documented, in writing, and maintained by the member's commander or supervisor.
- 10.1.3 The employer shall provide five work days written notice to affected employees prior to making changes to a bargaining unit member's beginning and ending times of the work period necessitated by assignment of days off per section 10.1.8.
- 10.1.4 Each bargaining unit member shall be assigned 2 days off during their work period if they are on a 7 day period, 4 days off during their work period if they are on a 14 day period and shall be assigned 8 days off during their work period if they are on a 28 day period. A bargaining unit member's days off may be temporarily changed to ensure adequate coverage is available in troop areas/districts, provided the bargaining unit member is given 7 calendar days' notice. This notice can be less than 7 calendar days when an emergency exists. "Temporarily" shall mean the time necessary to deal with such an event.
- 10.1.5 In assigning days off, each Division, Section, and Troop Area Commander or District Supervisor shall utilize six (6) of the seven (7) calendar days each week as days off; except where the small size or operational needs of the unit dictates the use of fewer days off.
- 10.1.6 Days off for all bargaining unit members, except Fire Marshal, shall be assigned as close as possible to the periods of August 1, 2025 through January 31, 2026; February 1, 2026 through July 31, 2026; August 1, 2026 through January 31, 2027; and February 1, 2027 through July 31, 2027.
- 10.1.7 **<u>SHIFT BIDDING</u>**: For the purposes of bidding shifts and days off for State Patrol Troopers assigned to the Traffic Services division, by June 1st of each calendar year, shift bidding lists will be posted by the Agency for bidding on the

period starting August 1st and ending January 31st. The bidding list shall be posted 14 days prior to the bid. On 8 hour shifts the available days off will consist of either Sunday/Monday; Tuesday/Wednesday; or Friday/Saturday. When ten hour shifts are offered the available days off will consist of either Sunday/Monday/Tuesday or Thursday/Friday/Saturday. Starting with the most senior in the work area, an employee will have 3 hours to select their shift. The employee may make his or her bid by phone, e-mail, or by personal contact. Employees who fail to designate their shift will have their shift assigned by the Trooper Commander or his or her designee. The bidding list shall include a list of each combination of consecutive days off, and each available shift start time on each shift. The final list will be posted by July 15th and take effect August 1st.

For the purposes of bidding shifts and days off for State Patrol Troopers assigned to the Traffic Services division, by November 15th of each calendar year, shift bidding lists will be posted by the Agency for bidding on the period starting February 1st and ending July 31st. The bidding list shall be posted 14 days prior to the bid. On 8 hour shifts the available days off will consist of either Sunday/Monday; Tuesday/Wednesday; or Friday/Saturday. When 10 hour shifts are offered the available days off will consist of either Sunday/Monday/Tuesday or Thursday/Friday/Saturday. Starting with the most senior in the work area, an employee will have 3 hours to select their shift. The employee may make his or her bid by phone, e-mail, or by personal contact. Employees who fail to designate their shift will have their shift assigned by the Trooper Commander or his or her designee. The bidding list shall include a list of each combination of consecutive days off, and each available shift start time on each shift. The final list will be posted by January 15th and take effect February 1st.

The Sergeant's bidding list shall be posted 14 days prior to the Sergeant's bid. The bidding list for State Patrol Sergeants shall include a list of consecutive days off available and a choice between early or late shift assigned as designated by the shift commander. Bidding by Sergeants shall take place May 1st and November 1st and shall be completed prior to shift bidding by State Patrol Troopers. For the purposes of the Field Services Division all Sergeants within the same Troop Area shall be understood to be within the same work area.

- 10.1.8 **DAYS OFF AFTER LATERAL TRANSFER:** At the State Patrol, if a bargaining unit member transfers to a different Division, Section, Troop Area, Sergeant Area, or District, he or she shall be assigned the available days off by the Troop Area, Sergeant Area, or District for the remainder of the current six (6) month period, regardless of his or her seniority as compared to the other officers assigned to the Division, Section, Troop Area, Sergeant Area, or District.
- 10.1.9 **DAYS OFF AFTER PROMOTIONAL TRANSFER:** If a bargaining unit member is promoted and transferred to a different Division, Section, Troop Area, Sergeant Area, or District, he or she will be assigned days off by the new commander or supervisor which best fit in with the prevailing work schedules and which do not require other officers to switch days off.

- 10.1.10 The normal work period for Fire Marshal Deputies is Monday through Friday during the State's normal business hours. This does not prohibit the Agency Director, Division, or District Supervisor from assigning a bargaining unit member or requiring a bargaining unit member to work a weekend or evening. These hours shall be scheduled in advance by the Director or supervisor and shall not be regularly scheduled shift assignments.
- 10.1.11 Each Trooper assigned to the Carrier Enforcement Division and not assigned to the CVE program or assigned as an investigator, shall be assigned one weekend per month, 30 days in advance, for each six month period. Adjustments to scheduling for this group may be made by mutual agreement between the Trooper and their supervisor.

10.2 <u>Meal Period</u>

10.2.1 A meal period, if taken, shall be considered as time worked, except at the Fire Marshal, as all officers are considered as on duty from the beginning of their shift until they finish their shift. Meals taken shall be expeditious and only the amount of time reasonable and necessary to eat shall be used. Due to the constant variable and unpredictable nature of a bargaining unit member's day, no set time limit shall be established, except at the Fire Marshal. However, the Council agrees that the State shall monitor officers' meal periods and shall ensure that meal periods are not abused by an individual. When bargaining unit employees have been assigned to light duty, meal periods will not be counted as work time. When bargaining unit members are attending training out of state and are not subject to call, meal periods will not be counted as work time.

10.3 Workday

10.3.1 Bargaining unit members may be temporarily reassigned. Volunteers for temporary reassignments shall be solicited in advance whenever possible. Seven (7) calendar days' notice shall be given to the affected member. Days off for the affected member shall be set in accordance with 10.1.8 unless mutually agreed upon by the affected member and the Employer. "Temporarily" shall mean the time necessary to deal with such an event. The Employer shall attempt to distribute reassignments in work areas so as not to put an undue burden on individual bargaining unit members by singling out individual members for all reassignments. If the seven (7) calendar day notice is not provided, the bargaining unit member shall work his/her normal shift and be compensated for the additional work. Nothing in this section shall preclude the officer from requesting that he/she be allowed to go off duty at the end of eight (8) hours worked or at the end of his/her regular work shift if the regular work shift is other than an eight hour shift, or to change his/her days off by mutual agreement with the supervisor. Bargaining unit members shall immediately notify the Agency when they become aware that their work requirement is not within their regularly scheduled starting and ending times, or on their normal days off. The notice provisions outlined above shall apply. At the Game and Parks Commission and the Fire Marshal employees are not assigned to shifts. At the Fire Marshal employees are expected to work the number of hours

necessary on any particular day in order to get the job completed and will adjust their schedules for the remainder of the period accordingly. Employees of the Fire Marshal shall notify the Agency immediately if they ascertain that it will be necessary to put in overtime hours during any pay period and shall be required to receive permission to work the overtime hours before working such hours.

10.4 Extra Duty Pay

10.4.1 <u>Detached Duty Pay</u>

The Employer and Council recognize that, at times, the work of bargaining unit members at the State Patrol requires them to be away from their city of residence for extended periods of time, and that such occurrences often create financial and psychological hardships upon the bargaining unit members and their families. Therefore, it is the intent of the Employer and the Council to work together to pursue available avenues to attempt to receive authorization to compensate bargaining unit members for detached duty which is not associated with inservice training, schools, seminars, or conferences.

10.4.2 <u>Hazardous Duty Pay</u>

The Employer and the Council recognize that bargaining unit members serving as Bomb Squad Officers, Hazardous Material Handlers, and S.W.A.T. Members are subject to substantially greater risks, and that the consequences of error inherent in such functions are significantly greater than those associated with the duties of other bargaining unit members.

10.4.3 Employees who are assigned to specialized assignments as listed below are eligible for additional compensation of one dollar (\$1.00) per hour for each specialty. This additional compensation of one dollar (\$1.00) per hour shall only be applied to hours actually performing duties in this specialty capacity, including hours spent obtaining or maintaining a certification. Once an employee is no longer assigned a specialty assignment or loses certification, the employee forfeits the specialty pay. Specialized assignments to be considered in this Section are as follows: Field Training Officers, Range Instructor, Drug Recognition Expert, EVOC Instructor, Polygraph Examiner, Defensive Tactics Instructor, Nebraska Hazardous Incident Team, Post-crash CMV Inspection, and Wildland Incident Response Assistance Team.

10.5 Shift Designation/Patrol

10.5.1 <u>Permanent Shifts</u>

10.5.1.1 Troopers and Sergeants, in each Troop Area, assigned to road operations and Troopers assigned to permanent scales on Interstate 80 shall have an option of voting to implement permanent shifts prior to bidding for shift and days off. A simple majority of all eligible votes (eligible voters shall mean bargaining unit members who are affected by implementation of permanent shifts) will be necessary to implement permanent shifts. Where approved, permanent shifts shall be implemented the following first day of February or August 1st following such approval.

- 10.5.1.2 If the Troopers and Sergeants involved in the Troop Area, or Carrier District, and Troopers assigned to road operations opt for permanent shifts, they shall bid their preference for shift and days off as provided for in Section 10.1.7. Bidding for shift and days off shall be on the basis of seniority as provided in Article 9 hereof. This section shall not apply to Troopers assigned to scales that are not on Interstate 80 and also shall not apply to Troopers assigned to portable scales.
- 10.5.1.3 At the end of each six-month cycle, bargaining unit members involved will rebid shifts and days off as set out in Section 10.5.1.2.
- 10.5.1.4 In troop areas where permanent shifts have been implemented in Road Operations, management shall have the right to assign Road Operation Sergeants to supervise personnel within the geographic boundaries of the respective Troop Areas as needed for adequate supervisory coverage.

10.6 <u>Compensatory Time</u>

- 10.6.1 Bargaining unit members shall be allowed to accumulate up to 120 hours of compensatory time. Members who have accumulated 120 or fewer hours of compensatory time shall not be required to use compensatory time off by the Agency. However, members may request to utilize such compensatory time off at times of their own choosing. The Agency shall not unreasonably deny such requests.
- 10.6.2 Overtime hours earned over 120 hours, will be paid in cash, unless the overtime is earned while attending the recruit training program or in the event of a declared emergency as defined in Article 2. Overtime earned while attending the recruit training program or in the event of a declared emergency as defined in Article 2, will be taken as compensatory time within the next twelve months or will be paid out at the end of eighteen months from the date of graduation from recruit training program. The Employer retains the right to schedule the time off prior to the 18 month deadline if the Officer has not scheduled the time within one year of the date of graduation. Members with compensatory balances in excess shall submit a request to his or her supervisor indicating the date(s) on which he or she would prefer to utilize the excess compensatory time off. The supervisor shall not unreasonably deny the dates requested.
- 10.6.3 Compensatory time in excess of 120 hours shall be used in amounts of not less than one (1) hour at a time, unless specifically requested by the member and approved by the Agency.

- 10.6.4 Bargaining unit members have the right to request the use of compensatory time off within a reasonable period of time after making the request if the use of such time off does not unduly disrupt the operations of the Agency.
- 10.6.5 In the event that the employer is unable to pay cash for overtime hours in excess of 120 hours as stated in 10.6.2 due to a shortage in general funds budgeted for overtime compensation, bargaining unit members will earn compensatory time. Bargaining unit members shall be required to use the excess compensatory time within a six (6) month period from the date of the notice from the agency. Members with compensatory time balances in excess of 120 hours shall submit a request to his or her supervisor indicating the date(s) on which he or she would prefer to utilize the excess compensatory time off. The supervisor shall not unreasonably deny the dates requested.
- 10.6.6 Bargaining unit members, once notified of compensatory time balances in excess of 120 hours as stated in Section 10.6.5 who fail to schedule or refuse to schedule such excess time off, shall have time off scheduled by the agency on a date(s) determined by the Agency. Employees ordered to take compensatory time off shall be provided at least 72 hours advance notice, unless a shorter notice is mutually agreed to. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a bargaining unit member from requesting to change scheduled compensatory time off, however the decision of the Agency shall be final.
- 10.7 Nothing in this article shall preclude the payment of compensatory time in the bargaining unit member's compensatory time bank in cash, by the Employer, at the Employer's discretion, with the agreement of the bargaining unit member.

ARTICLE 11 - LEAVE PROVISIONS

11.1 Holidays

11.1.1 The following holidays are compensated holidays for employees in the bargaining unit and are scheduled on the dates indicated below:

New Year's Day	January 1
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	Third Monday in January
President's Day	Third Monday in February
Arbor Day	Last Friday in April
Memorial Day	Last Monday in May
Juneteenth	June 19
Independence Day	July 4
Labor Day	First Monday in September
Veteran's Day	November 11
Thanksgiving Day	Fourth Thursday in November
Day after Thanksgiving	Friday following Thanksgiving
Christmas Day	December 25

11.1.2 Holiday Leave for Part-time Employees

Employees working part-time schedules shall receive paid time off for holidays on a pro-rated basis.

11.1.3 <u>Weekend Holidays</u>

When a holiday falls on the first day of an employee's weekend, it shall be observed on the preceding day. When a holiday falls on the last day of an employee's weekend, it shall be observed on the following day. Normally, a weekend is two consecutive days off, whether they be Saturday/Sunday, Tuesday/Wednesday, Friday/Saturday, etc.

For employees whose normal schedule provides for a three day weekend, when a holiday falls on the second day of the employee's weekend, it shall be observed on the first working day following the weekend.

11.1.4 <u>Work on a Holiday</u>

11.1.4.1 Holiday Compensatory Time Earned Prior to July 1, 2019

When used, holiday compensatory time shall not count towards the calculation of overtime for the pay period. When holiday compensatory time is to be granted, it shall be taken at the request of the employee with the approval of the immediate supervisor. Bargaining unit employees will provide their immediate supervisor with at least 72 hours' notice of their intent to use holiday compensatory time. All requests for the use of holiday compensatory time will be granted except where minimum staffing requirements prohibit the approval of such requests. Bargaining unit members, once notified of compensatory time balances in excess of 240 hours who fail to schedule or refuse to schedule such excess time off, may have time off scheduled by the agency on a date(s) determined by the Agency. Employees ordered to take compensatory time off shall be provided at least 72 hours advance notice, unless a shorter notice is mutually agreed to. At the Employer's discretion, employees who accumulate over 240 hours of holiday compensatory time will be paid the hours in excess of 240. At the employee's request, the Employer will provide the employee their holiday compensatory time account balance information.

11.1.4.2 Compensatory Time Earned by Working on a Holiday After July 1, 2019

In addition to normal holiday pay/hours counted in a bargaining unit employee's overtime calculation, when employees are required to work on their designated holiday they shall be compensated at the employer's discretion in the form of premium pay or compensatory time at a rate of time and one-half for hours actually worked on the holiday. Work on a holiday must be approved in advance, by the immediate supervisor, except in the event of an emergency. When used, compensatory time earned by working on a holiday shall not count towards the calculation of overtime for the pay period. All hours worked on a holiday in

excess of an employee's normally scheduled work day shall be compensated at two times the employee's normal hourly rate, in cash.

11.2 <u>Vacation Leave</u>

Earning of vacation leave by bargaining unit employees begins immediately upon employment. Full-time employees earn vacation leave according to the following schedule:

1st year through 5th year	96 hours
6th year	120 hours
7th year	128 hours
8th year	
9th year	144 hours
10th year	152 hours
11th year	160 hours
12th year	168 hours
13th year	176 hours
14th year	184 hours
15th year	192 hours
16th year and more	

11.2.1 Scheduling Vacation Leave

Vacation leave should be applied for in advance by the employee and may be used only when approved by the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee. Vacation leave may not be unreasonably denied or deferred so that the employee is deprived of vacation rights.

- 11.2.1.1 Vacation leave requests shall be completed across all Sergeant Areas / Districts / Divisions twice per year. Troop Area / Division Commanders shall refer employees under their command to Appendix G by June 1st of each calendar year for the period starting August 1st and ending January 31st and November 1st of each calendar year for the period of February 1st and ending July 31st. Employees shall complete their requests using Appendix G by June 15th and November 15th of each calendar year for each respective period. Troop Area / Division Commanders shall process vacation leave requests and notify those under their command of approvals/disapprovals by June 30th and November 30th of each calendar year for each respective period.
- 11.2.1.2 Priority 1 vacation leave requests shall consist of one leave request of at least seven (7) calendar days but no more than fifteen (15) calendar days. Priority 1 requests will be granted based upon seniority in the employees' work areas. Ties in seniority shall be broken according to the procedure set forth in Article 9.7 of this contract. Once granted, a

Priority 1 request cannot be revoked and is transferrable upon promotion, demotion, transfer (voluntary and involuntary), or change in shift pursuant to Article 10 of this contract. A Priority 1 request can be made into the next leave period but no request shall be granted which exceeds the next leave period.

- 11.2.1.3 Priority 2 vacation leave requests shall be granted after all requests pursuant to 11.2.1.2 have been granted. Appendix G shall have 10 spaces available for Priority 2 vacation leave requests. Priority 2 vacation leave requests can be for any length of time as long as the hours in the employees leave bank(s) have or will have a sufficient balance. Starting with the most senior officer, the first two Priority 2 vacation leave requests shall be granted. The next senior officer shall then be granted their highest two Priority 2 vacation leave requests that are available, and so on until all bargaining unit members have had their first two Priority 2 vacation leave requests considered. Ties in seniority shall be broken according to the procedure set forth in Article 9.7 of this contract. All remaining Priority 2 vacation requests shall be granted according to seniority. Once granted, Priority 2 vacation leave requests cannot be revoked unless a declared emergency as defined in Article 2 of this contract is declared. Priority 2 vacation leave requests are not transferrable upon promotion, demotion, transfer (voluntary and involuntary), or change in shift pursuant to Article 10 of this contract.
- 11.2.1.4 Vacation leave requests by a bargaining unit member during the progression of the current work period may be of any length of time. Vacation leave requests shall be approved unless denied and written notice of the denial is provided within 5 business days of receipt by a member of the bargaining unit member's chain of command.

11.2.2 Balancing of Vacation Leave

An employee's accumulated vacation time in excess of 280 hours shall be forfeited as of December 31st of each calendar year.

11.2.2.1 Game and Parks Conservation Officers, Game and Parks Investigation Officers, and Game and Parks Sergeants accumulated vacation time which is in excess of 280 hours shall be forfeited as of February 28, of the following calendar year. This balancing of accumulated vacation time does not include January and February earnings.

11.2.3 <u>Vacation Leave Payment</u>

Employees who leave employment shall be paid for any unused accumulated vacation leave earned, calculated on their base hourly rate. Pay for the unused

accumulated vacation leave shall be in a lump sum addition to the employee's last paycheck.

11.2.3.1 Other than set out as in Section 10.1.6, when an employee requests time off on vacation leave such approval or denial will be given in writing within at least 48 hours from the time the supervisor receives the request. This will be documented in writing to the employee.

11.3 Sick Leave

Full time employees shall earn 13.5 days (108 hours) of sick leave per calendar year.

- 11.3.1 The following conditions are valid reasons that sick leave may be used.
 - 11.3.1.1 When an employee is unable to perform his/her duties because of sickness, disability, injury, or when an employee's presence at work jeopardizes the health of others by exposing them to a contagious disease. Pregnancy, post-natal recovery and miscarriage shall be considered temporary disabilities.
 - 11.3.1.2 When the illness, disability, or injury of an immediate family member demands the employee's presence. The immediate family shall be considered as: spouse, children, and parents (or persons bearing the same relationship to the spouse). At the agency head's discretion, the definition of immediate family may be broadened.
 - 11.3.1.3 When an employee pre-schedules medical, surgical, dental or optical examinations or treatment, or when the employee must seek emergency medical treatment as set out in Section 11.3.1.2. A reasonable attempt must be made to schedule such appointment during non-work times.
 - 11.3.1.4 The employer agrees that absence due to treatment related to alcoholism or drug abuse, if medically diagnosed by a licensed health care provider, shall constitute legitimate sickness.
 - 11.3.1.5 In conjunction with an approved leave under the FMLA.

11.3.2 <u>Request for Sick Leave</u>

Sick leave shall be requested in advance when possible. The employee will make contact with his/her shift supervisor, to report his/her illness, at least two hours prior to the start of a shift. It is understood that there will be times when this notice is not possible because of sudden illness, but the intent is to allow adequate notice for shift coverage. In the case of illness, injury, emergency or any other absence not approved in advance, the employee should inform the first level of supervision of the circumstances as soon as possible. An employee may be required to submit substantiating evidence when the reason for the leave request was a medical or dental appointment or when the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee suspects sick leave abuse. Substantiating evidence may be required if the sick leave absence exceeds three consecutive workdays.

- 11.3.3 There shall be no maximum limit on accumulation of sick days.
- 11.3.4 All sick leave shall be forfeited upon separation from employment, except that an employee who retires or dies shall be paid for forty-five percent (45%) of his/her accumulated sick leave not to exceed six-hundred (600) hours.
- 11.3.5 Employees returning to work after a break in service of less than one calendar year shall have their accumulated unused sick leave balance reinstated. Service date shall be adjusted for the period of absence. Employees returning to work after a break in service of more than one calendar year shall start with a zero sick leave balance and shall be considered to be new employees for service date purposes.

11.4 <u>Funeral Leave</u>

Up to 40 hours of funeral leave may be granted to employees for death in the immediate family. For purposes of this section, immediate family shall mean spouse, father, mother, grandfather, grandmother, sister, brother, child, grandchild, spouse of any of these, or someone who bears a similar relationship to the spouse of the employee. Step-persons and unborn persons bearing these relationships are included. At the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee's discretion, the definition of immediate family may be expanded to include other individuals with a similar personal relationship to the employee as that of an immediate family member.

11.5 <u>Injury on Duty</u>

- 11.5.1 When a bargaining unit member is injured on duty and a bargaining unit member is able to perform light duty, the Agency shall make every reasonable effort to place said bargaining unit member in an assignment of light duty so as to not cause him/her to expend his/her sick leave account. The Agency shall also provide the unit member with information regarding light duty opportunities that exist in the employment of the State of Nebraska outside the Agency. If a unit member is offered a light duty position outside his or her Agency, the employee shall not be required to accept the light duty assignment. The Agency may require the bargaining unit member to provide a Physician's Certificate regarding his/her fitness to return to his or her regular duty assignment at any time.
- 11.5.2 Any disablement contracted in the course of employment shall be reported to the proper Agency authority as soon as possible. The Employer shall report all necessary information to the State's Worker's Compensation authority.
- 11.5.3 All employees who are disabled as a result of a job-related injury or disease may be granted injury leave not to exceed a maximum of forty hours for any particular injury. A workday is counted even if an employee is absent for any portion of their assigned shift. Disabled shall mean unable to perform the tasks usually

encountered in one's employment due either to an injury/disease or to treatment for an injury/disease.

- 11.5.3.1 Any job-related injury or disease shall be reported to the proper agency authority as soon as possible and the agency shall have the responsibility to supply all the necessary information to the Office of Risk Management.
- 11.5.3.2 No employee shall receive a salary (worker's compensation plus regular pay) in excess of his or her normal wage.

11.6 <u>Military Leave</u>

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable federal and state laws, and is limited to 440 hours a year for drill, summer camp, deployment, training or other military orders, with no accumulation of unused leave carried over to the following calendar year. Such military leave may be taken in hourly increments. Employees who are members of the National Guard or Reserve shall provide their Unit Training Assembly (drill) schedule to their supervisor as soon as it is available from the Military Unit. Where practicable, the Agency shall allow the employee to flex his/her work schedule to accommodate Unit Training Assembly (drill) schedules.

- 11.7 <u>Civil Leave</u>: All employees shall be eligible for paid civil leave under the following conditions:
 - 11.7.1 <u>Jury Duty</u>: If an employee is called to serve as a juror, he/she shall be entitled to paid civil leave. Employees will return to work when not actually serving as a juror on a daily basis.
 - 11.7.2 <u>Election Board Duty</u>: If an employee is appointed as a clerk or judge on an election or counting board, he/she shall be entitled to paid civil leave. (For further information on Election Board Duty, see section 24.1.)
 - 11.7.3 <u>Voting Time</u>: All employees shall be allowed up to two paid hours for the purpose of voting provided the employee does not have sufficient time before or after regular duty hours to vote. The two hours authorized for voting does not apply to those employees who by reasons of their employment must vote by use of an absentee ballot.
 - 11.7.4 <u>Court Appearances</u>: Time spent by employees appearing in court as a function of their job shall be considered as hours worked. If witness fees and reimbursements received as a result of these court appearances they shall be returned to the State.
 - 11.7.5 Employees attending courts as a plaintiff, defendant or witness on non-work related matters, may use vacation leave or earned compensatory time. In the event the employee is subpoenaed for non-work related matters and does not have vacation leave or compensatory time, the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee

shall grant a leave of absence. Any witness fees paid to the employee for these court appearances, shall be kept by the employee.

11.8 Leave of Absence

- 11.8.1 An Agency Head and/or his/her Designee may grant employees an unpaid leave of absence, not to exceed one year (except for military service and some worker's compensation cases), when such absences will not interfere with the best interest of the State. Under unusual circumstances this time may be extended by the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee. Written requests for leaves of absence will be considered for such things as temporary disabilities (i.e. leave for maternity, paternity), educational purposes, newly adopted children or other uses. Medical leaves of absence shall not exceed six weeks unless approved by a physician. The leave of absence when granted, shall be in writing and detail the employment conditions that will be in effect at the end of the absence.
- 11.8.2 During the leave of absence, the temporarily vacated position may be filled by either employing a temporary employee or assigning another qualified employee to assume the duties of the position.
- 11.8.3 No benefits will accrue during a leave of absence.
- 11.8.4 Sick and vacation leave earned but unused prior to leave of absence will be carried forward upon the employee's return.
- 11.8.5 The employee's service date shall be adjusted for non-pay absences in excess of thirty calendar days, except when an employee is still eligible for worker's compensation payments.
- 11.9 <u>Leave for Part-Time Employees</u>: All types of leave are granted in proportional amounts for part-time employees.
- 11.10 Family and Medical Leave
 - 11.10.1 Family and Medical Leave is unpaid time off from work. An employee must have at least twelve total months of service and at least 1,250 hours of service in the previous twelve month period to be eligible for Family and Medical Leave. Temporary employment with the State of Nebraska counts toward an employee's eligibility. An employee can use paid vacation, accumulated compensatory time, or sick leave (if the condition for using sick leave meets the sick leave criteria outlined in Section 11.3.1.1 through 11.3.1.4) as part of their 12 weeks of Family and Medical Leave if the employee should so choose.
 - 11.10.2 Conditions for Using Family and Medical Leave.

Unpaid Family and Medical Leave may be used for the following reasons:

a. Because of the birth of a child of the employee.

- b. Because of the adoption or placement of a foster care child with the employee.
- c. In order to care for the serious health condition of the employee's spouse, child, or parent.
- d. Because of the serious health condition of the employee.
- e. Because of any qualifying exigency (as defined by the Secretary of Labor) arising out of the fact that the spouse, or a son, daughter or parent of the employee is on active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed Forces in support of a contingency operation.
- f. Because the employee who is the spouse, the son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of a covered service member shall be entitled to a total of 26 work weeks of leave during a 12 month period to care for the service member. The leave described in this subsection f. shall only be available during a single 12 month period.

NOTE: Spouse does not include unmarried domestic partners. Child may include step-children, foster children, or certain other children having more than a short-term residence in the employee's home such as legal wards of the employee. Care for mother-in-law or father-in-law is not included. However, parent may include individuals other than natural or adoptive parents who served in a long-term parental role for the employee.

NOTE: Serious health conditions are defined as illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental conditions that involve: (1) in-patient care, (2) absence from work, school or other regular daily activities for more than three calendar days and continuing treatment by a health care provider, or (3) continuing treatment by (or under the supervision of) a health care provider for a chronic or long-term health condition that is incurable or so serious that, if not treated, would likely result in a period of incapacity of more than three calendar days, or prenatal care. Examples of serious health conditions include: heart attack, heart by-pass or valve operations, most cancers, back conditions requiring extensive therapy or surgery, strokes, severe respiratory conditions, spinal conditions, appendicitis, pneumonia, emphysema, severe arthritis, severe nervous disorders, need for prenatal care, severe morning sickness, childbirth, and recovery from childbirth. This does not include voluntary or cosmetic treatments, unless inpatient hospitalization is required.

- 11.10.3 Certification of Serious Health Conditions. When requesting Family and Medical Leave for serious health conditions, an employee must provide certification from a health care provider which includes:
 - (1) the date on which the serious health condition commenced;

- (2) the probable duration of the condition;
- (3) any appropriate medical facts;
- (4) a statement containing specific information why the employee is needed to care for the child, spouse, or parent, or; a statement containing specific information why the employee is unable to perform the functions of the job;
- (5) if the leave is to be intermittent, a statement containing specific information concerning planned medical treatments, the expected dates and duration of treatment.
 - 11.10.3.a. Medical Second Opinions. The Agency may require a second opinion (the Agency's choice of health care provider) and must pay for the cost of the second opinion. If the second opinion differs from the first, a third opinion may be sought (from a mutually agreed upon health care provider, again, at the Agency's expense). The results of the third opinion are final.
- 11.10.4 Notice of Intent to Use Family and Medical Leave. A minimum of 30 days' notice to the Agency must be provided by the employee before he or she may use Family and Medical Leave. Where 30 days' notice is not foreseeable, notice must be given as early as possible.
- 11.10.5 Family and Medical Leave Duration. Unpaid Family and Medical Leave is limited to a total of twelve weeks within a twelve month period, starting with the date the employee first uses unpaid Family and Medical Leave, except that the leave under Section 11.10.2.f may be 26 weeks during a single 12-month period, but the leave provided under 11.10.2.e and 11.10.2.f cannot exceed a combined total of 26 weeks during a 12 month period.
- 11.10.6 Family and Medical Leave Not Cumulative. Family and Medical Leave cannot be carried forward beyond the twelve month period and banked for future use.
- 11.10.7 Incremental Use of Family and Medical Leave. With approval of the agency, Family and Medical Leave may be taken in increments with proper medical certification (federal law allows employees not eligible for overtime, "exempt employees", to make incremental use of unpaid Family and Medical Leave without affecting their "salaried" status).
- 11.10.8 Health Insurance while on Family and Medical Leave. Employer health insurance contributions shall continue during an employee's unpaid Family and Medical Leave absence, provided the employee makes his/her required contribution. Employer contributions shall be based as if the employee had continued to work his/her normal schedule.

- 11.10.9 Service Date Adjustments. The employee's Service Date shall be adjusted when an unpaid absence due to Family and Medical Leave exceeds 30 consecutive calendar days.
- 11.10.10 Family and Medical Leave Denials. DAS Employee Relations Division shall be notified by the Agency of any requests for Family and Medical Leave which are denied.

11.11 Catastrophic Illness Donation

11.11.1 <u>Conditions for Contributing Vacation Leave or Compensatory Time</u>. The provisions of this section are non-grievable. Employees may contribute accrued vacation leave or compensatory time to benefit another State employee in the same agency suffering from a catastrophic illness. Catastrophic condition is considered a life threatening medical condition or an injury or illness that causes the employee to suffer a substantial temporary disability.

Vacation/compensatory leave shall be donated in no less than four (4) hour increments. The contributing employee must identify the specific amount of time donated and the name of the recipient for the donated vacation/compensatory forms provided by the Employer for this purpose. leave on Vacation/compensatory leave donated and transferred to another State employee pursuant to this provision, shall be irrevocably credited to the recipient's catastrophic illness account. The recipient cannot use the donated leave until the date the leave is actually donated. The agency shall transfer donated leave to the recipient's account on an as needed basis. However, the agency shall not transfer more than the equivalent of 30 of the recipient's workdays of leave into his/her account at any one time.

- 11.11.2 <u>Conversion of Leave</u>. Leave for catastrophic illness will be available only to employees who have exhausted their own paid leave and compensatory time/leave through bona fide serious illness or accident. Donating employees must sign an authorization, including specifying the specific employee to be a recipient of the donation. Leave transferred will be converted to a dollar value and then converted to hours based on the recipient's hourly rate; e.g., the leave donor's salary is \$6.00 per hour and the recipient's salary is \$12.00 per hour; thus a donor must transfer twice the amount of hours to achieve full conversion. The agency shall not transfer more than the equivalent of 30 of the recipient's workdays of leave into his/her account at any one time. The agency shall not transfer more donations until this amount is exhausted. All donations remaining in the employee's catastrophic illness account when the employee's employment terminates, or when the employee dies, shall be forfeited, and no payout for these forfeited hours shall be made. No more than 1,200 hours of donated leave may be received by an employee during a twelve month period.
- 11.11.3 <u>Eligibility of Recipient</u>. The recipient must meet all of the conditions listed below:

- a. Must be suffering a serious illness or injury resulting in a prolonged absence of at least thirty work days during the past six months.
- b. Must produce satisfactory medical verification.
- c. Must have completed original probation.
- d. Must have exhausted all earned paid leave time including compensatory time off, sick leave, and vacation leave.
- e. Must not have offered anything of value in exchange for the donation.
- f. Has not received catastrophic leave donations for serious illness or injury in the past 2 years.
- 11.11.4 <u>Eligibility of Donor Employee</u>. The donor employee must meet all of the conditions listed below:
 - a. Only four (4) hour increments of vacation/compensatory leave may be donated.
 - b. Must not have solicited nor accepted anything of value in exchange for the donation.
 - c. Must have remaining to his/her credit at least 40 hours of accrued vacation leave, after donating vacation leave.
- 11.12 <u>Adoption Leave</u>: Upon request, the mother of newly adopted children, meeting the requirements of Neb. Rev. Stat. Sec. 48-234, shall receive the same sick leave allowed to State employees who are new mothers by natural birth (generally six weeks) when adopting a child. Fathers of newly adopted children, meeting the requirements of Neb. Rev. Stat. Sec. 48-234, should receive leave on the same terms as fathers by natural birth.
- 11.13 **Mentorship Leave:** Up to one hour per week of paid leave may be granted to employees upon request for participation in the State of Nebraska Youth Mentoring Program. All provisions of Mentorship Leave are to be in accordance with the State of Nebraska Youth Mentoring Program. Mentorship Leave is not considered as work time for the purposes of calculating overtime.
- 11.13.1 In order to be eligible for Mentorship Leave, employees must meet the following requirements:
 - a) The employee's current performance review is satisfactory and the employee is not currently on a performance improvement plan;
 - b) The mentoring program is on the list of approved youth mentoring programs maintained by Mentor Nebraska;
 - c) The employee follows agency guidelines in submitting Mentorship Leave requests;
 - d) The employee meets all background checks and additional requirements of the mentoring program;
 - e) The employee signs the "Accident Waiver and Release of Liability" form.

Employees must provide their supervisor with proof (email, confirmation letter, etc.) that they meet all background checks and additional requirements of the mentoring program they choose or any other documentation requested by their supervisor in relation to Mentorship Leave. Each agency is responsible for verifying the youth mentoring program that the teammate is volunteering for is on the approved mentoring list maintained by and available on the website of Mentor Nebraska.

- 11.13.2 An agency may deny a request or withdraw approval for Mentorship Leave if the employee's absence is not in the best interest of the State, interferes with agency operations and/or services, or the employee does not meet the eligibility requirements. In addition, employees must obtain the prior approval of their supervisor related to the time and date of the week that Mentorship Leave is to be utilized.
- 11.13.3 Employees must follow the State of Nebraska's Acceptable Use Policy. Employees are allowed to review the mentoring options on the database using a state computer, however, must do it on lunch or breaks. Any additional use of State Equipment must be in alignment with the State's and his/her agency's acceptable use policy.

All participation in volunteer mentoring activities is done on the employee's personal time and should not be considered work time. The "Accident Waiver and Release of Liability" form must be signed prior to participating in volunteer mentoring activities.

ARTICLE 12 - OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

- 12.1 A bargaining unit member may engage in outside employment during off duty hours, provided that such employment is not illegal, not in conflict with the bargaining unit member's duties or the interests of the State, nor if it would bring discredit or disrepute upon the officer, or the State. In general, security work such as night watch, crowd control, or guarding private property is not prohibited.
- 12.2 Bargaining unit members on original probation shall not be permitted to engage in outside employment.
- 12.3 If outside employment in the opinion of the agency is affecting the bargaining unit member's employment, the agency will so notify the individual they might want to rethink outside employment or risk disciplinary action.
- 12.4 Requests for Authorization of Outside Employment
 - 12.4.1 Bargaining unit members shall make written request for authorization for outside employment to the Director or designee. Such requests shall contain the name of the employer, the nature of the business, and the specific nature of the job to be performed. Requests shall be forwarded to the Director through the chain-of-command.

- 12.4.2 Bargaining unit members shall not commence outside employment without written authorization from the Director or designee except as provided in Section 12.5.4.
- 12.4.3 Authorization to undertake or continue outside employment shall not be unreasonably denied. However, in the event that the Director or designee is of the belief that the outside employment or continued outside employment is or will create a conflict of interest or validly bring discredit upon the bargaining unit member or the State, he/she shall deny or rescind the authorization for outside employment. The bargaining unit member shall immediately terminate outside employment upon the written notification from the Director or designee.
- 12.4.4 Temporary employment to be undertaken for no more than two weeks may be verbally authorized by the Troop, Division, or Section Commander or appropriate Supervisor, provided it meets the provisions of this Article and that the individual granting approval does not occupy a class contained in the bargaining unit. The Director or designee shall be notified of such authorization. Bargaining unit members denied outside employment or that have authorization rescinded may appeal the decision to the Director.
- 12.4.5 A bargaining unit member shall notify his/her commander, in writing, of termination of outside employment.
- 12.4.6 A bargaining unit member who has utilized sick leave or is in a leave status related to a worker's compensation covered injury shall not perform outside duty employment on days when compensation is received through worker's compensation or sick leave.
- 12.5 Patrol employment in the following designated areas shall be considered specialized outside employment and may be authorized on a case by case basis by the Superintendent or designee.
 - 1. Accident reconstruction or photography;
 - 2. Operating polygraph or other instruments to determine truthfulness; and
 - 3. Conducting hypnosis.

Employment in the areas of accident and fire reconstruction or photography shall be considered specialized outside employment for members of the bargaining unit employed by the Fire Marshal and may be authorized on a case by case basis by the Director or designee.

12.5.1 A written request must be made in the manner set forth in section 12.5.1. Such request must also contain specific information concerning the involvement of any other law enforcement agency or law enforcement officer. The bargaining unit member shall not undertake any such employment if there is a likelihood of having to testify against another law enforcement officer.

- 12.5.2 Outside employment in which a State Patrol employee uses, wears, or carries a weapon shall be considered as Specialized Outside Employment. State Patrol Troopers may use, wear, or carry their agency approved Backup/Secondary Weapon (firearm) while engaged in Specialized Outside Employment, provided that employees comply with all provisions of past practices and all provisions in this article. In addition, officers must conform to all provisions of the State Patrol's policy on the Carrying of Weapons.
- 12.5.3 Prior to authorizing outside employment in which the employee uses, wears, or carries a firearm, the prospective employer must sign an agreement to hold harmless the State of Nebraska, the Nebraska State Patrol, and their employees, officials, and representatives for any and all liability associated with or arising from the officer's actions while performing the outside employment. It is the employee's responsibility to obtain such an agreement and submit it to their first line supervisor outside of the bargaining unit prior to beginning employment.
- 12.6 No uniforms, weapons, equipment, material, or supplies belonging to the State shall be used while engaging in outside employment.
- 12.7 The Director or designee reserves the right to suspend, modify, or withdraw approval of off-duty employment on a case by case basis.
- 12.8 Volunteer work, not in conflict with this Article, is not prohibited.

ARTICLE 13 - RESIDENCY

13.1 <u>Residence Limitation</u>

13.1.1 Bargaining unit members employed by the State Patrol shall be allowed to reside within forty (40) miles of the city limits of the assigned duty station, provided that such residence is in the State of Nebraska on a maintained road. If the forty (40) mile limit is in dispute, it will be verified using GPS equipment.

Bargaining unit members employed by the Game and Parks Commission shall be allowed to reside within twenty (20) miles of the city limits of the assigned duty station, provided that such residence is in the State of Nebraska and within one of their primary counties of assignment. This provision only applies to residency changes made after July 1, 2017. At the discretion of the Game and Parks Commission, the 20 mile limitation may be increased. This decision shall be nongrievable.

13.2 Current employees whose residence is outside of the limitations in 13.1.1 shall be grandfathered in. Should an employee who has been grandfathered in, desire to make a change in his/her residence which would result in an increase to the current grandfathered amount of miles, the employee shall seek approval from the Superintendent/Administrator

prior to a change in residence. The decision of the Superintendent/Administrator allowing the employee to change his/her residence shall be final and not appealable.

- 13.3 Employees who transfer to a new duty station, shall fall within the guidelines of 13.1.1. Current employees whose residence is outside of the limitations in 13.1.1 and laterally transfer in the same duty station shall be grandfathered in. Should an employee who has been grandfathered in desire to make a change in his/her residence which would result in an increase to the current grandfathered amount of miles, the employee shall seek approval from the Superintendent/Administrator prior to a change in residence. The decision of the Superintendent/Administrator allowing the employee to change his/her residence shall be final and not appealable.
- 13.4 Employees who are promoted to a new duty station shall fall within the guidelines of 13.1.1. Employees who are promoted in the same duty station and currently reside outside of the limitation in 13.1.1 shall be grandfathered in. Should an employee who has been grandfathered in desire to make a change in his/her residence which would result in an increase to the current grandfathered amount of miles, the employee shall seek approval from the Superintendent/Administrator prior to a change in residence. The decision of the Superintendent/Administrator allowing the employee to change his/her residence shall be final and not appealable.
- 13.5 Article 13 shall not apply to bargaining unit members in the State Fire Marshal.
- 13.6 For the purposes of this Article, a mile shall be defined as a linear mile equaling 5,280 feet. Miles will be determined through "line of sight" using a map.
- 13.7 Those living in Hall, Merrick, Clay, Adams, Sherman, Hamilton, Kearney, Howard or Buffalo counties may commute to and from training at the Law Enforcement Center in Grand Island using State owned vehicles. If the employee lives outside of the area comprised of these counties the employee may choose to commute to and from training, rather than staying overnight at the training center, but shall use their own vehicle, time and expense.

ARTICLE 14 - MOVING EXPENSES

14.1 <u>Moving Expenses</u>

14.1.1 Bargaining Unit members relocated to another geographical location in the state at the request of the Agency shall be reimbursed for moving expenses pursuant to the provisions of Appendix C.

ARTICLE 15 - PROMOTIONS

15.1 The promotional process in which bargaining unit members compete for SLEBC bargaining unit positions shall be job related, maximize utility, and minimize adverse impact. All elements of the promotional process shall be administered, scored, evaluated, and interpreted in a uniform manner.

- 15.2 For State Patrol Officers, when offers are made for promotions to the rank of Sergeant, the Superintendent or designee(s) shall interview candidates from the promotion list who possess the requisite qualifications. The qualifications shall be determined by the Superintendent. Offers of promotion shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent. For State Patrol Officers, an officer may turn down an offer of promotion with no impact to their status on the promotional list. State Patrol Officers who are already on the current Sergeant promotional list will remain on the new updated promotional list without having to compete again. At the Superintendent's discretion, all interested officers, including those currently on the Sergeant promotional list, shall be required to test for a place on a new promotional list.
- 15.3 Competition for promotion at the State Patrol shall be conducted up to at least every 24 months. However, the exact date may be shorter if all candidates have been offered and rejected the current vacant position.
- 15.4 The promotional process shall be conducted in accordance with Nebraska State Patrol Policies and Procedures or the appropriate Agency Policies and Procedures.
- 15.5 Agencies not having a formal system for promotion to other positions within the law enforcement unit within their agency shall adopt such a system. Such system shall consider written, objective job-related factors appropriate for the job, and including, but not limited to training, education, experience of the applicant in the area of the position applied for.
- 15.6 The State Patrol will develop a written promotional system for all employees in the bargaining unit which will list the criteria which shall be objective in nature, that will be considered when promotions are made.

ARTICLE 16 - POLICY CHANGES AND PERSONNEL RECORDS

- 16.1 Policies and Procedures
 - 16.1.1 The Agencies may prepare, issue, and enforce policies, procedures, and safety regulations necessary for the safe, orderly, and efficient operation of the agency which shall not conflict with the terms of this agreement.
- 16.2 Policy and Procedure Changes
 - 16.2.1 The Agency agrees to post additions, modifications, and deletions to the Agency Policies and Procedures, and provide a copy to the Council Office and Union Chief Negotiator, at least 15 working days prior to the date such changes shall become effective. At the Fire Marshal and Game and Parks Commission changes will be distributed to all members. At the State Patrol, changes will be posted at Headquarters and all sergeant area offices.

- 16.2.2 In the event that a matter is of an emergency nature, or the result of a court decision any applicable policy may be changed. Officers will be notified by their supervisor or radio message as soon as possible. The Council will be notified immediately for the reasons for such emergency changes.
- 16.2.3 All bargaining unit members and the SLEBC Negotiator shall be provided with copies of all policies and procedures per 16.2.1.
- 16.2.4 No employee shall be required to use or operate unsafe equipment or equipment which is not in proper working condition which poses a safety hazard to the employee. The employee shall notify the Employer of unsafe equipment.

16.3 <u>Personnel Records</u>

- 16.3.1 The official personnel records of the Bargaining Unit members shall be maintained by the Personnel Office at each agency Headquarters, and shall be confidential, as set out in Section 16.3.2 of this Agreement.
- 16.3.2 The bargaining unit member shall be given a copy of any material to be entered in his/her official personnel record.
- 16.3.3 Length of retention of personnel records shall be in accordance with the requirements of the Department of Administrative Services Personnel Division, State Auditor, and the Records Management Division of the Secretary of State.
- 16.3.4 All annual performance evaluations and, where applicable, Supervisory Observation Forms shall be retained in the personnel file or electronically. Annual performance reports, other than the ten most recent, shall not be used for disciplinary purposes.
- 16.3.5 In the event the employer requires any bargaining unit member covered by this Agreement to take a polygraph examination in accordance with existing personnel rules of the employer relating to such polygraph examinations, the polygraph and the report shall be made available to the bargaining unit member at the time when the employer determines to discipline, demote, suspend, reprimand, or otherwise take any action adverse to the bargaining unit member's interest. If the employer determines that no disciplinary action is necessary, the polygraph and the report shall remain confidential and shall be destroyed after one (1) year. The bargaining unit member will be immediately notified as to the results of any investigation in which the bargaining unit member is required to take a polygraph examination.
- 16.3.6 When an employee seeks a tuition waiver from a State or community college or university based on their law enforcement status, the agency is allowed to disclose satisfactory or unsatisfactory performance rating to the requesting institution.

ARTICLE 17 - COMMITTEES

17.1 Labor-Management Committee

- 17.1.1 There is hereby established a joint committee for the purpose of discussing common problems within each agency. The Council and Agency may each designate two (2) persons (one of which may be a non-employee Council official) to serve on the committee.
- 17.1.2 The committee shall meet no more than three times a year upon the request of either party. The State agrees to compensate bargaining unit members of the Labor-Management committee at their current straight time salary, including reasonable travel time from the bargaining unit member's normal site of duty, for participation in such committee meetings which occur during the bargaining unit member's normal work time. Attendance of additional personnel may be authorized by agreement of the parties.
- 17.1.3 Each party shall exercise good faith in determining if such meetings are necessary. The party requesting such meeting shall submit an agenda for said meeting.
- 17.1.4 When the problem affects a single troop or district area, division, or section, then the Council may designate a representative from that troop or district area in addition to employee Council official to serve on the committee. These representatives may meet with the Troop Commander or Supervisor and any other person he/she designates.
- 17.1.5 The parties agree to establish a separate Labor-Management Committee at the Game and Parks Commission for the purpose of identifying and discussing concerns related to overtime that bargaining unit members have. Each party shall have the ability to appoint three members to the committee. Either party shall have the ability to invite experts to make special presentations. The committee shall meet when it is mutually agreed upon by both parties.
- 17.1.6 The parties agree to conduct a joint Labor-Management Committee meeting in the event that random drug testing is to be implemented. The joint committee will meet for the purpose of discussing the policy and common problems perceived by either side. All other Labor-Management Committee guidelines apply.

17.2 <u>Safety Committee</u>

17.2.1 There shall be a joint Safety Committee established in each troop area or district, consisting of one representative designated by the Troop Area Commander or District Supervisor and one member of the bargaining unit assigned to the troop area selected by the Council who shall, if necessary, meet to discuss safety problems and, if necessary, tour the appropriate premises.

- 17.2.2 All questions relating to safety, including equipment and procedures, shall be considered proper subjects for discussion.
- 17.2.3 Any safety question not resolved by the work of this committee shall be presented to the Troop Area Commander or District Supervisor by the committee. After conferring, the committee report, along with the recommendation of the Troop Area Commander or District Supervisor will be forwarded to the appropriate Agency Director for any action he/she may consider necessary.

ARTICLE 18 - LAYOFFS-RECALL-REINSTATEMENT

- 18.1 Layoff shall be defined as elimination of a position or reduction in hours. Such layoffs shall be the result of economic reasons, reduction in workload or reorganization of an agency.
 - 18.1.1 At least five (5) work days prior to announcing a layoff the Agency shall meet with and discuss the impending layoff with the Council. The Agency Head shall determine when and where layoffs are necessary and which classifications shall be affected.
- 18.2 Layoffs shall occur in the following class groupings:

Game and Parks Conservation Officers/Game and Parks Investigation Officer Game and Parks Sergeant Deputy Fire Marshals State Patrol Sergeant/State Patrol Investigation Sergeant State Patrol Trooper/State Patrol Investigation Officer

18.3 Early Retirement/Resignation

Prior to initiating a layoff the agency shall make an announcement that a layoff is imminent. Retirements and/or resignations could eliminate or reduce the impact of anticipated layoffs. The Agency shall afford employees the opportunity to retire or resign prior to the layoff in hopes that such voluntary separations will eliminate or reduce the impact of anticipated layoffs.

18.4 Notification of Layoff

A bargaining unit member to be laid off shall be notified, in writing, at least fifteen (15) work days prior to the effective date of layoff, except that when emergency funding situations exist, this notification period can be shortened. The notification shall include:

- 1. reasons for the layoff
- 2. effective date of the layoff
- 3. seniority list of bargaining unit members

- 4. list of vacancies
- 5. bumping rights as identified in 18.7 & 18.8
- 6. locations and positions affected
- 18.5 The order of reduction in affected class groupings shall be:
 - 1. Temporary employees
 - 2. Trainees
 - 3. Part-time employees
 - 4. Original probationary unit members
 - 5. Permanent unit members
- 18.6 Layoff shall be by reverse seniority in the affected class groupings (last in first out). Seniority for layoff purposes is defined in Article 9. Bargaining unit members with the least seniority in the affected positions and work location to be reduced shall receive reduction in force notifications prior to more senior members in the same classification and work location.
- 18.7 A bargaining unit member who is laid off as a Game and Parks Conservation Officer, Game and Parks Investigation Officer, Game and Parks Sergeant, or Fire Marshal Deputy, shall have the following options: (1) fill any vacancy in their classification within their agency; (2) bump a bargaining unit member in the same class grouping with the least seniority agency wide; or (3) accept layoff.
- 18.8 A bargaining unit member who is laid off in one of the above State Patrol class groupings in 18.2 shall have the following options: (1) filling any vacancy in his/her class grouping unless the position requires special certification or licensure, i.e. pilot or polygraph; (2) bump employees with the least seniority agency wide in that current class grouping unless the position requires special certification or licensure, i.e. pilot or polygraph; (3) bump to a previously held lower pay line class grouping*; or (4) accept layoff.

*State Patrol Sergeants who were previously Carrier Enforcement Supervisors shall be entitled to bump lower seniority State Patrol Troopers who are performing Carrier Enforcement duties. The seniority date for those previous Carrier Enforcement Supervisors shall be the date of hire as a Carrier Enforcement Officer provided, however, that if such date is earlier than July 1, 1985, it shall be adjusted to July 1, 1985.

18.9 A unit member shall have a minimum of seven (7) work days from receipt of the written layoff notification to exercise his/her rights or accept layoff. Such notice shall be in writing to the Agency Head. Failure to respond within the seven (7) work day limit shall be acceptance of layoff.

18.10 <u>Reduction of Pay</u>

A bargaining unit member who elects to bump to a position in a lower pay line shall be placed on the appropriate step of that pay line which corresponds with his/her classification seniority.

18.11 Reinstatement and Recall

A bargaining unit member who is bumped to a position with a lower pay line in lieu of layoff shall be offered any vacancy in his/her former position before officers on the existing promotion list are offered promotion. An offer of reinstatement shall be made based upon seniority. Such an offer shall be for a period of twenty-four (24) months or for the life of the existing promotion list, whichever is greater.

- 18.12 A bargaining unit member laid off shall be recalled in the reverse order in which he/she was laid off. The most senior laid off employee shall have the first right of refusal of vacant positions. Such rights shall be for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the effective date of layoff provided the bargaining unit member meets the minimum standards for the position which existed at the time of the layoff.
- 18.13 A laid off unit member refusing recall to a position and location from which he/she was laid off shall forfeit all future rights of recall.
- 18.14 A bargaining unit member recalled to his/her former position shall be placed on the pay line which corresponds to his/her classification seniority. The unit member shall notify the agency in writing of the acceptance or refusal of the position within ten (10) calendar days.
- 18.15 A unit member who had not completed his/her original probationary period prior to layoff shall complete same upon recall.
- 18.16 A notice of recall to a unit member shall be in writing specifying the terms of such recall and mailed by registered mail to his/her current address, which the unit member shall keep on file with the Agency.
- 18.17 No new unit members can be hired into the classes affected by layoff until all laid off unit members are recalled or have had the opportunity for recall and refused same.

18.18 Moving Expenses

Reference Appendix C regarding payment for moving expenses. For purposes of reduction in force, employees voluntarily filling vacancies in lieu of layoff shall be considered to have moved for the benefit of the employing agency and shall be reimbursed for moving expenses. Employees moving as a result of bumping another bargaining unit member shall not receive payment of moving expenses.

18.19 Ties in Seniority

When two or more unit members have the same classification seniority date, seniority shall be determined by a coin toss officiated by the Council. The coin toss shall use the commonly practiced "heads or tails" basis. The winner shall be considered the most senior unit member for the seniority determination at hand, and the first loser shall be the second most senior member for the seniority determination at hand. When three or more unit members have the same classification seniority date, classification seniority shall be determined by name-drawing out of a hat and officiated by a member of the Council. The first name picked out of the hat shall be considered the most senior unit member for the seniority determination at hand, and the process shall be continued until seniority is determined for all relevant members.

ARTICLE 19 - WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

19.1 Assignment of Responsibility

19.1.1 When any employee of the bargaining unit performs the majority of the duties of a position in a classification higher than the classification currently held by the employee, the employee shall receive a five percent temporary salary increase. An employee will be deemed to be assigned such duties when the temporary transfer exceeds fifteen consecutive calendar days in a thirty day period. Any such pay increase will begin on the sixteenth day, shall be retroactive to the date of the temporary transfer and shall end when the employee reverts to his/her previous classification. Such assignments shall be in writing. When the employer knows higher level duties will be temporarily assigned for more than thirty consecutive calendar days no employee shall be arbitrarily required to work out of class for periods of less than 15 consecutive calendar days in order to avoid paying the employee the salary for performing the higher level position.

ARTICLE 20 - UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT

20.1 <u>Uniforms</u>

- 20.1.1 The State shall provide and replace sufficient uniforms for all bargaining unit members, who are required to wear uniforms, to meet the reasonable needs of the officers, excluding personal undergarments and socks.
- 20.1.2 In the case of damage or destruction to bargaining unit member's clothing, glasses, watches or other personal property sustained while the bargaining unit member is performing his/her duties without negligence, the State will make every reasonable effort to expedite the process at the State Claims Board level.
- 20.1.3 The State shall provide an allowance equal to \$100.00 per month to be paid to non-uniformed officers for the purpose of maintaining civilian attire. Non-uniformed officers shall include Deputy Fire Marshals assigned to arson investigation, Game and Parks Investigation Officers, and State Patrol Investigation Officers and Investigation Sergeants.
- 20.1.4 Effective July 1, 2003, State Patrol Troopers or Sergeants who are assigned to permanent Executive Protection duties will be provided a clothing allowance equal to one-hundred (\$100) dollars per month. This is in addition to the expense allowance provided in section 21.4. In order to receive the allowance, employees shall provide receipts documenting the clothing purchase when requesting

reimbursement. Employees shall be reimbursed twice per contract year for the clothing allowance.

- 20.1.5 Body armor shall be provided to all bargaining unit members, who are sworn law enforcement officers, desiring the same. Such armor shall be replaced before the manufacturer's date of expiration. At the Game and Parks Commission, expired body armor shall be replaced at the employee's request.
- 20.1.6 Footwear shall be provided to Game and Parks Conservation Officers, Game and Parks Sergeants, and Game and Parks Investigation Officers. The Labor-Management Committee shall review the specifications that the footwear provided must meet by January 1 of each year. Those Game and Parks Conservation Officers, Game and Parks Sergeants, and Game and Parks Investigation Officers not wishing to wear the footwear provided by the Agency may provide their own footwear, with the bargaining unit member bearing the cost, as long as this footwear is in compliance with agency guidelines.
- 20.1.7 The State Fire Marshal will pay up to \$180 for footwear per calendar year. Footwear costs in excess of this amount will be paid by the employee.

ARTICLE 21 - WAGE ADMINISTRATION

21.1 Wages -July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026.

21.1.1 Effective July 1, 2025, the pay rates of each pay line for all classifications, are established in Appendix E. Employees shall first be placed on the pay lines as follows:

For Game and Parks Conservation Officer, Game and Parks Sergeant, and Game and Parks Investigation Officer, employees on a step of a respective pay line as of June 30, 2025, shall remain on the same numbered step of the respective pay line as outlined in Appendix E; Employees between steps on a respective pay line as of June 30, 2025, shall be placed on the next highest step above their current wage; Employees above Step 15 of a respective pay line as of June 30, 2025, shall receive the same percentage increase that Step 15 of the respective pay line received (10%). Each pay line shall consist of fifteen (15) steps. On July 1, 2025, employees shall advance one step on their pay line, excepting those bargaining unit members who are on or above Step 15 of their pay line on June 30, 2025.

For State Patrol Trooper, State Patrol Tropper Performing Pilot Duties, State Patrol Seargeant, State Patrol Sergeant Performing Pilot Duties, State Patrol Investigation Officer, State Patrol Investigation Sergeant, and Fire Marshal Deputy, the pay lines shall consist of thirteen (13) steps, as established in Appendix E. On July 1, 2025, employees will be placed on the next highest step above their current wage. Employees at or above the maximum step as of June 30, 2025, shall receive the same percentage increase that the respective pay line received (3%). On July 1, 2025, after employees are placed on a step as outlined

above, employees shall advance one step on their pay line, excepting those who are on or above the maximum step of their pay line after step placement.

21.1.2 On July 1, 2025, each bargaining unit member who receives a satisfactory rating on their most recent performance evaluation and attains the following years of service shall receive a one-time merit payment:

1-5.99 years of service= \$50.00 6-9.99 years of service= \$400.00 10-14.99 years of service= \$725.00 15-19.99 years of service= \$1,050.00 20 years or more= \$1,375.00

Years of service shall be determined by the Service Anniversary Date of the bargaining member.

21.2 Wages - July 1, 2026 through June 30, 2027.

- 21.2.1 Effective July 1, 2026, the pay rates of each pay line shall be increased by 4% and are established in Appendix E. Employees shall be placed on the pay lines as follows: Employees on a step of a respective pay line as of June 30, 2026, shall remain on the same numbered step of the respective pay line as outlined in Appendix E; Employees between steps on a respective pay line as of June 30, 2026, shall be placed on the next highest step above their current wage; Employees above the maximum step of a respective pay line as of June 30, 2026, shall receive the same percentage increase that the respective pay line received (4%). On July 1, 2026, employees shall advance one step on their pay line, except those bargaining unit members who are on or above the maximum of their pay line on June 30, 2026.
- 21.2.2 On July 1, 2026, each bargaining unit member who receives a satisfactory rating on their most recent performance evaluation and attains the following years of service shall receive a one-time merit payment:

1-5.99 years of service= \$50.00 6-9.99 years of service= \$400.00 10-14.99 years of service= \$725.00 15-19.99 years of service= \$1050.00 20 years or more= \$1,375.00

Years of service shall be determined by the Service Anniversary Date of the bargaining member.

- 21.3 New Hires/Promotions/Demotions
 - 21.3.1 A new hire in this bargaining unit shall be placed on the appropriate pay schedule on Step 1.

LATERAL ENTRY. On recommendation of the Agency Head, applicants with more than one (1) year of continuous, full time law enforcement experience may be approved to begin employment at a pay grade higher than Step 1 on the pay plan for the applicable classification. The lateral hire may be placed on a Step on the pay plan that provides them with their most recent hourly rate of pay, but no higher than this amount. If their most recent rate of pay is in between steps, the Agency shall place them on the next higher step.

In all other respects, applicants eligible for hire under this section will be treated as a new hire without prior experience. These applicants will not receive any additional credit in computing seniority, vacation time, or longevity pay. The Agency shall have discretion to offer a lateral training camp of current law enforcement officers and establish the training curriculum.

21.3.2 For purposes of defining changes in step movement the State Patrol and Game and Parks have categorized two different position levels for each classification. At the discretion of the Superintendent or Administrator, interviews may be required for a move from a position assigned to a lower pay line to a position assigned to a higher pay line, regardless of the Level assigned.

> Level 1 positions: State Patrol Trooper, Executive Protection Trooper, Trooper Performing Pilot Duties, Investigation Officer, Game and Parks Conservation Officer, and Game and Parks Investigation Officer.

> Level 2 positions: State Patrol Sergeant, Investigation Sergeant, Executive Protection Sergeant, Sergeant Performing Pilot Duties, and Game and Parks Sergeant.

A bargaining unit member who moves to a different position within their current Level, shall be placed on the same numbered step of the pay line of their new position. The employee's rate of pay shall be at least at the minimum rate of pay for the new classification. In no case shall the new rate of pay be above the rate assigned to the 15th step of the new pay line.

21.3.3 A Level 1 bargaining unit member who has served in their position a minimum of 24 months and is promoted to a Level 2 shall move to the step on the new pay line which represents at least a five (5%) percent increase from their then current hourly rate of pay.

Alternatively, after serving in a Level 1 position, for less than 24 months, an Officer who is promoted to a Level 2 position shall move to the step on the new pay line which represents at least a five percent (5%) increase from the rate of pay that they would be paid based on the person's step placement on the State Patrol Trooper pay line. The 24-month minimum service requirement may be waived at the discretion of the Superintendent or his/her designee.

Notwithstanding the previous paragraphs of Article 21.3.3, a Game and Parks bargaining unit member who is promoted to a Level 2 position shall move to the

step on the new pay line which represents at least a five (5%) percent increase from their then current hourly rate of pay regardless of their length of service.

21.3.4 After serving in a position for a minimum of 24 months, an Officer who is demoted either voluntarily or involuntarily, from service from a higher pay line to a lower pay line, shall remain at their then current hourly rate of pay prior to the demotion until the pay line of the new classification has caught up to their hourly rate of pay.

Alternatively, after serving in a position for less than 24 months, an Officer who is demoted either voluntarily or involuntarily, from a higher pay line to a lower pay line, shall move to the step on the new pay line which represents at least a five (5%) percent salary reduction from their then current hourly rate of pay prior to the demotion. The 24-month minimum service requirement may be waived at the discretion of the Superintendent or his/her designee.

21.3.5 A former bargaining unit employee who is terminated from a supervisory position in the same agency, except for disciplinary reasons, shall be eligible to return to the bargaining unit on the pay line which correlates to the same rate of pay they would have been earning had they remained in the prior position and had not promoted out of the bargaining unit. Eligibility shall mean the mutual consent of the Employer and the Council.

21.4 **Expense Allowance**

Each sworn employee of the State Patrol shall receive an expense allowance as provided in Nebraska Revised Statute Section 81-2002.

- 21.5 Officers performing pilot or Game & Park Conservation Officer lead worker duties shall return to the pay line of the employee's classification without the pilot/lead worker duties (e.g. "State Patrol Trooper Performing Pilot Duties" would be placed in the "State Patrol Trooper" pay line, "Conservation Officer Lead Worker" would be placed in the "Conservation Officer" pay line) when no longer performing pilot/lead worker duties. The Employer has the discretion in assigning and managing lead worker duties.
- 21.6 A current State Fire Marshal employee or a Game and Parks Commission employee who has been reclassified to a Conservation Officer position, who transfers to a SLEBC covered classification, shall be placed on the step that retains his or her current salary. Seniority commences on the date of hire into the SLEBC position.
- 21.7 Any employee of the Nebraska State Patrol who is permanently assigned to full 8 or 10 hour shifts beginning at or after 3:00 p.m., shall be compensated shift differential pay of \$1.00 per hour in addition to their regular hourly rate for all hours worked. When the employee is no longer permanently assigned to that shift, they shall no longer receive shift differential.
- 21.8 **Bilingual Pay.** Any full-time bargaining unit member whose qualifications for bilingual ability have been determined by the Director, shall receive compensation at the rate of two

and one-half percent (2.5%) higher than their base hourly rate of pay while assigned to perform bilingual services in any language where need has been demonstrated and such additional language is recommended by the Director.

ARTICLE 22 - INSURANCE

22.1 <u>Health Insurance</u>

Effective July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2027, the State will contribute 83% of the cost of the SLEBC sponsored plan or the State PPO plan, whichever is less, for the option chosen by the SLEBC employee.

22.1.1 Retired military service members who are eligible for TRICARE and are currently employed by the State of Nebraska, may elect to receive their health insurance coverage through TRICARE and forego participation in a group insurance plan offered by the Employer or SLEBC, pursuant to Article 22.1. Individuals who do so will receive a flat, monthly stipend paid by the Employer.

For those with individual plans, the flat, monthly stipend would be in the amount of fivehundred dollars (\$500.00). For those with family plans the flat, monthly stipend would be in the amount of one-thousand dollars (\$1,000.00). It is the bargaining unit member's responsibility to submit supporting documentation to show eligibility for the payment under this Section.

22.2 <u>Life Insurance</u>

The employer will provide a \$50,000 group life insurance policy for each full-time bargaining unit member. The full cost will be borne solely by the Employer. Optional life insurance will be made available to bargaining unit members at the employee's cost.

22.3 Dental Insurance

The Employer agrees to provide a group dental insurance program to bargaining unit members and their dependents. From July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2027, the Employer shall contribute \$16.00 per month toward single coverage; \$22.00 per month for two-four party coverage; and \$28.00 per month for family coverage. Employees may participate in this program by participating in the employer's open enrollment process.

22.4 Long-Term Disability

The Employer agrees to provide a long-term disability insurance program for bargaining unit members. The benefit shall be 60% of the bargaining unit member's monthly base salary until age 65. The waiting period shall be 180 days. The Employer will pay 100% of the premium for long-term disability coverage.

22.5 The parties agree that a Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association Plan (VEBA) has been implemented with an effective date of December 1, 2018. This shall be known as the

Jon Reeves VEBA Plan for the purposes of this labor contract. There shall be no cost to the employer and forty-five percent (45%) of each employee's accrued sick leave, not to exceed 600 hours, shall be contributed into the plan upon retirement.

- 22.6 The SLEBC Health Insurance Plan ("Plan") shall provide the State on a quarterly basis (by the 15th of the month following the end of the previous quarter) information as outlined below:
 - 1. Number of bargaining unit members enrolled in the Plan (as of the end of the previous month)
 - 2. Number of dependents enrolled in the Plan (as of the end of the previous month)
 - 3. The Plan "Health Report" from an independent auditor showing: the Plan has sufficient funds for the Plan's current obligations and future obligations within the next quarter and predicted run out claims, the Plan is operating in accordance with the Plan design and applicable premium rates, the Plan meets all applicable state and federal regulations.

On a yearly basis:

- 1. Insurance Summary Plan Documents
- 2. Information for employer's federal reporting as required by the Affordable Care Act (e.g. Form 1094-c & 1095-c)
 - a. Dependent name(s), relationship, date of birth, social security number, and effective date of coverage
- 3. Plan Premium rates are supported by actuarial opinions, sufficient, appropriate, and consistent with best practices.
- 4. Whether stop-loss coverage (re-insurance) is purchased for the upcoming plan year.

ARTICLE 23 - ORIGINAL PROBATIONARY PERIOD

23.1 Bargaining unit employees shall be required to serve an original probationary period of nine months and shall be so notified. At the Fire Marshal this probationary period shall commence on the date of hire. Conservation Officers will serve an original probationary period after graduation from the law enforcement training center, or becoming a Nebraska certified law enforcement officer, or date of hire if already Nebraska certified law enforcement. State Patrol Troopers will serve an original probationary period of nine (9) months after the date they graduate from the Nebraska State Patrol Training Academy. Employees who transfer from one agency to another may be required by the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee to serve an original probationary period. An employee shall be removed from original probation status on the day following the end of the original probationary period. If the employee is given written notice that the employee is not currently performing at the level required to become a permanent employee of the agency, the original probationary period may be extended up to three months. For periods of absence exceeding 14 consecutive calendar days, the original probationary period may be

placed in abeyance and resume when the employee returns to work. The original probationary period may be extended by the number of days absent.

- 23.2 Employees may be separated at any time during the original probationary period. Two weeks' notice of separation does not have to be given to original probationary employees; however, the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee shall notify the employee in writing of the date the separation is effective. Employees on original probation do not have grievance rights.
- 23.3 Lateral Transfer/Promotion Probationary Periods. An employee who is promoted to a position or laterally transferred within the bargaining unit may be required by the Agency Head to serve a promotion probationary period for up to six months from the date of promotion. A promotional probation may be extended for up to six additional months if the employee is assigned to a performance improvement plan in compliance with Agency policy. This is not another original probationary period and does not affect the grievance rights of the employee. If the employee does not perform satisfactorily in the position, the employee may exercise his/her rights to fill any vacancy in a position(s) he/she held within the bargaining unit before his/her promotion. Should no position be vacant or the employee does not exercise his/her rights to claim a vacancy, he/she shall elect lay-off and be eligible to exercise his/her recall rights under Article 18, Section 18.11.

ARTICLE 24 – OVERTIME

- 24.1 The following items will be regarded as hours worked for the purpose of computing overtime:
 - 24.1.1 Hours worked.
 - 24.1.2 Rest periods.
 - 24.1.3 Holidays. (For further information on work on a holiday, see section 11.1.4.)
 - 24.1.4 Job required court appearance.
 - 24.1.5 When an employee is required to attend training sessions on state premises on his/her off-duty time, such time shall be considered time worked and subject to compensation.
 - 24.1.6 Travel between job sites during or after the regular work day.
 - 24.1.7 Meal periods of less than thirty (30) minutes where an employee is not relieved of his/her post, station or duty, except for the meal period for those employees on light duty and/or attending training, shall not be regarded as hours worked for the purpose of computing overtime.
 - 24.1.8 Election Board duty.

- 24.2 The Employer shall use prevailing Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) criteria to determine the exempt or non-exempt overtime status of all employees covered by this Labor Contract.
- 24.3 Bargaining unit members who work in excess of 40 hours per 7 day pay period, those who work in excess of 80 hours per 14 day pay period and those who work in excess of 160 hours per 28 day pay period, shall receive a premium rate of one and one-half times their regular rate for those hours worked in excess of 40, 80, or 160, as appropriate.
 - 24.3.1 At the Fire Marshal, Fire Marshal Deputies performing investigation work shall adjust their schedules such that they do not work more than 80 hours during a 14 day period, and Fire Marshal Deputies performing inspection work shall adjust their schedules such that they do not work more than 40 hours during a 7 day period, except where authorization is obtained from the first level of supervision outside the bargaining unit.

At the Game and Parks Commission the bargaining unit members shall adjust their schedule such that they do not work more than 160 hours during a 28 day period, except in emergency situations or where authorization is obtained from the first level of supervision available. Bargaining unit members shall notify the appropriate supervisor immediately if they ascertain that it will be necessary to put in overtime hours during any pay period and shall be required to receive permission to work the overtime hours before working such hours except in emergency situations or where prior approval is not possible.

- 24.3.2 An employee who has approved vacation leave shall not have that leave returned to them when the employee receives prior authorization to earn more than 160 hours combined leave or work time in a 28 day period.
- 24.4 Bargaining unit members who are credited (due to receipt of leave time during the pay period) with hours in excess of 40, 80, or 160, whichever is appropriate, shall receive the regular rate for those hours.
- 24.5 Overtime compensation in Sections 24.2 and 24.3 shall consist of either paid time off or cash payment, at the discretion of the Employer.
- 24.6 All overtime must be approved in advance.
- 24.7 Bargaining unit members called to duty outside of their scheduled shift when the time worked does not merge with their scheduled shift, will be guaranteed a minimum of two hours work at the straight rate of pay. For State Patrol bargaining unit members, called to duty shall be defined as being required by a supervisor or officer of the court to take official action. For State Patrol bargaining unit members, it will not be considered to have been called to duty if they are notified eight (8) hours or more in advance that they no longer need to report for duty. Game and Parks Conservation Officers, Game and Parks Investigation Officers, and Game and Parks Sergeants who return to their home while on duty shall remain on duty while answering telephone messages. Any telephone call, email, or text that Game and Parks Conservation Officers, Game and Parks Investigation Officers, Game and Parks Sergeants, or Fire Marshal Deputies receive relative to State business shall

be considered work time and compensated for the actual amount of time spent in responding.

24.8 Daylight Savings Time. Non-exempt employees required to work more time than their regular shift due to the change from daylight savings time to standard time shall be paid for the additional time worked at the rate of time and one-half if this time constitutes overtime for this work period. Otherwise this time shall be compensated at the straight hourly rate of pay. Employees required to work less than eight (8) hours on an eight (8) hours on an eight (8) hours shift, or less than 8.5 hours on an 8.5 hour shift due to the change from daylight savings time to standard time shall be paid for the actual time worked. Employees may use vacation time or compensatory time to make up for the time lost. Employees on the first six (6) months of employment who would be eligible to accrue vacation may be advanced vacation time which shall either be deducted from their vacation leave balance or deducted from their last paycheck if the employee is separated prior to accruing vacation.

24.9 Meal Allowance

- 24.9.1 At the State Patrol bargaining unit employees working in excess of their scheduled shift (at least 12 1/2 hours) shall be allowed a reasonable meal period or the expense for that meal, within the perimeters as set out by the State for meals, without the loss of overtime. Bargaining unit members in other agencies shall continue to follow their present practices.
- 24.9.2 Income tax on meal reimbursements shall be deducted from the bargaining unit member's salary quarterly after the total meal reimbursement for the calendar year exceeds one hundred dollars.
- 24.10 Time sheets once submitted by the employee can only be changed by the Agency with mutual consent.
- 24.11 Grant Overtime
 - 24.11.1 All hours worked on a grant that is awarded for a specific function, event, or assignment in which overtime is anticipated and for which an overtime funding provision has been provided in the grant award, will be paid at 1¹/₂ times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay (except for overtime on a holiday), regardless of the leave used by the employee in the work period. Grant overtime worked by an employee in excess of their regular 8 or 10 hour work schedule on an actual holiday, will be paid at 2 times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay.
 - 24.11.2 The parties recognize that there are certain employees in SLEBC agencies whose positions are fully or partially funded by a grant on a regular basis. It is not the intent of section 24.11.1 to make all of their hours paid at the premium rates of pay described in that section. In the event that these employees complete work scheduled for their work cycles and exceed their overtime thresholds as described in the hours worked in provisions of sections 24.1 24.3, they shall be entitled to overtime for those hours that exceed their overtime threshold pursuant to the provisions of Article 24. It is also not the intent of the parties to exclude these

persons from the grant overtime premium rates of pay that are described in section 24.11.1 for work they complete on special or selective grant funded overtime assignments, functions or events. Accordingly, in the event that these employees work special or selective grant funded overtime assignments, functions or events, they shall be paid according to the premium rates described in section 24.11.1

ARTICLE 25 - LEGAL DEFENSE AND LIABILITY CLAIMS INDEMNIFICATION

25.1 The Agency shall request the Attorney General's office to provide legal counsel to employees sued for actions taken by them in the course and scope of their employment.

ARTICLE 26 - TUITION ASSISTANCE

- 26.1 Bargaining unit employees can enroll in university or college, vocational, technical school or extension courses. The course may be by correspondence or attendance at classes during non-working hours or during working hours with approval of the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee. The Agency Head and/or his/her Designee, where practicable, may allow bargaining unit employees to use vacation, compensatory time or leave without pay for attendance during regularly scheduled working hours.
- 26.2 Tuition may be reimbursed at up to 100% at the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee's discretion for all job related courses. Job relatedness shall be determined by the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee in accordance with Agency standards. Eligibility for reimbursement requires a course grade of "C", or equivalent, or better, or pass for pass/fail courses.
- 26.3 Employees eligible for other educational reimbursements through other governmental programs shall use these programs first. If the cost of an approved course is more than the amount available from other sources, the Employer may reimburse the employee for up to 100% of the difference.
- 26.4 Employees who receive tuition assistance may be asked to reimburse the Employer if they leave their employment within one year of the course completion date.

ARTICLE 27 - EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

- 27.1 Each agency which is a party to the Contract by having employees who are members of the Law Enforcement Bargaining Unit shall maintain an employee assistance program.
- 27.2 Each program must meet the following qualifications:
 - 27.2.1 Can be "in-house" or under contract to an outside firm.
 - 27.2.2 Must maintain the confidentiality of the employee using the services of the program.

ARTICLE 28 - PRINTING

The State will furnish the final contract to the Council electronically.

ARTICLE 29 - DISCIPLINARY RIGHTS AND PROCEDURES AND INVESTIGATORY SUSPENSION (STATE PATROL ONLY)

29.1 Discipline

- 29.1.1 Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Employer shall conduct all disciplinary matters in conformance with due process as provided for in this labor contract. Disciplinary action shall include one of the following:
 - 1. written warning (not to include SOF)
 - 2. disciplinary probation
 - 3. suspension
 - 4. demotion
 - 5. reduction in pay
 - 6. discharge

Except that disciplinary probation may be used in conjunction with any of the forms of discipline except written warning and discharge.

Demotion and reduction in pay may also be used as a combination for disciplinary purposes.

- 29.1.2 Disciplinary actions shall be based upon good faith for just cause for violations of:
 - A. policies and procedures of the agency,
 - B. this agreement.
- 29.1.3 At the State Patrol, the parties recognize that poor work performance and/or failure to meet performance expectations despite appropriate intervention is not misconduct, but rather the result of an employee's inability to perform the duties assigned to the position in a competent manner. As such, the Agency shall not conduct an Internal Affairs Investigation, nor shall the procedures set forth in this Article be followed in cases involving unsatisfactory work performance. The procedures regarding Performance Improvement Plans as set forth in Personnel SOP 20-1, 35-02, Section F shall be used to correct poor work performance with actions up to and including termination. However, an employee who is subject to any action as outlined in 29.1.1 for poor work performance shall be entitled to a hearing before the Agency Head.

29.1.4 A "complaint inquiry" consists of discussion with a bargaining unit member about allegations of misconduct. The purpose of the complaint inquiry is to provide an optional method to expeditiously resolve complaints. Garrity warnings shall not be given and no advance notice requirements shall apply to the complaint inquiry or the informal complaint resolution process. The bargaining unit member will be advised at the beginning of a complaint inquiry that he/she is not compelled to provide information. It is understood that a member participating in a complaint inquiry or the informal complaint resolution process may request representation by the individual of his/her choice; however, the supervisor conducting the inquiry is not obligated to proceed further with the complaint inquiry process or the informal complaint resolution process. Complaint inquiries or the informal complaint resolution process may be conducted by telephone.

29.2 Imposition of Discipline

- 29.2.1 When imposing discipline, management shall not take into consideration any prior discipline which is more than ten (10) years old in determining the appropriate level of discipline. Disciplinary action shall not be instituted against a bargaining unit member for previously undisciplined conduct older than twenty-four (24) months when the alleged misconduct is or could have been discovered with reasonable diligence within a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of alleged misconduct unless the offense would constitute a Class IV felony or higher grade of felony, involved dishonesty or bias against a protected class, or when the alleged misconduct was in any way concealed by the bargaining unit member.
- 29.2.2 All complaints alleging misconduct of less than serious nature which are received more than twenty-four (24) months after the alleged incident took place, shall not result in discipline to the officer.
- 29.2.3 The parties agree that the progressive discipline techniques should be the primary focus when considering the level of discipline to be used in all cases except those concerning dishonesty, serious discriminatory action against a protected class, or criminal activity engaged in while on duty, or criminal activity off duty involving violence, drugs, or crimes of dishonesty. The use of progressive discipline shall take into consideration the nature, related disciplinary history and severity of the infraction when considering the level of discipline to be suggested or imposed. The goal of progressive discipline is to apply the minimum level of discipline which will bring the employee's performance to the expected level.
- 29.2.4 Written Warning is the lowest level of the discipline process and may be imposed at the Superintendent's discretion. A maximum discipline of written warning may be used for minor unit accidents that are the fault of the bargaining unit member, if they are without injuries, or involve de minimus third party damage (less than \$1,000), or caused unit damage not exceeding \$5,000, only when it is the bargaining unit member's first such incident within the preceding

two calendar years from the date of the offense. A written warning will be kept in the employee's personnel file for up to one year.

29.3 Due Process

- 29.3.1 Discipline shall be conducted in accordance with due process, as provided for in this labor contract, and good faith for just cause.
- 29.3.2 Bargaining unit members shall be entitled to a fair and impartial investigation when, in the course of the member's scope of employment, the employer deems an investigation necessary. Members will assist and expedite administrative investigations and, when requested by investigative officers, furnish information or give statements as witnesses within the guidelines specified in this Agreement.
- 29.3.3 A member's immediate family shall not be interviewed unless party to the complaint or at the specific request of the bargaining unit member.
- 29.3.4 A member may request an administrative investigation pertaining to any allegations or rumors which may adversely affect his/her credibility, integrity, or reputation. However, nothing shall obligate the Agency to conduct such an investigation. The bargaining unit member shall be notified as to the status of such request.
- 29.3.5 There shall be no "off the record" discussions with a bargaining unit member.
- 29.3.6 The employee's commander shall not be the hearing officer if he or she is the complaining party, a witness, or will provide any evidence against the employee.
- 29.4 Notification
 - 29.4.1 In the event that the consequences of the offense require immediate suspension, follow-up written notification will be provided within forty-eight (48) hours.
- 29.5 Investigatory Suspension
 - 29.5.1 A supervisor shall meet with a bargaining unit member prior to the bargaining unit member being placed on investigatory suspension. At such a meeting, the supervisor shall inform the bargaining unit member of the reason for the investigatory suspension and the date and time the suspension shall commence and that the bargaining unit member is not required to answer any questions.
 - 29.5.2 Investigatory suspensions shall be reduced to writing as soon as practical after the meeting with the supervisor.
 - 29.5.3 No employee under investigation shall be loaned or reassigned to the Internal Affairs Section, except when such employee is to be interviewed, and then only for such time as is reasonably necessary to conduct such interview.

- 29.5.4 When the Employer determines that an employee must be removed from a current work assignment pending the completion of an investigation and the administrative processing of the case, the object of which is to determine if disciplinary action is warranted, the Employer may:
 - a. Reassign the employee to another work assignment at their current rate of pay until the investigation is completed.
 - b. Suspend the employee from work without pay until the investigation is completed or until ten (10) work days have elapsed, whichever occurs first. However, the investigation may continue after the suspended employee returns to a paid status. The Employer agrees to pay the Employer's portion for group insurance during the period of suspension without pay.
 - c. Suspend the employee from work with pay until the investigation is completed. The status of an employee suspended with pay may subsequently be changed to a reassignment under Section 29.5.4(a) or a suspension without pay subject to the ten (10) work day limitation in 29.5.4(b) if the investigation circumstances warrants such a change in status.
- 29.6 Routine Supervisory Guidance
 - 29.6.1 Day-to-day discussions, comments, criticisms, and guidance made by a supervisor to a bargaining unit member shall not be construed as discipline. They shall be considered as routine supervisory guidance.
 - 29.6.2 Any routine supervisory guidance which is placed into writing in the supervisor's working notes or supervisory files shall be destroyed after the date on which the supervisor and bargaining unit member review and discuss the bargaining unit member's next annual performance evaluation or within fifteen (15) months, whichever occurs first.
 - 29.6.3 The Supervisory Observation Form (NSP 207), for Patrol employees, shall not be considered as supervisory working notes, but as documentation and justification for the performance evaluation covering a specific time period. The Supervisory Observation Form shall be initialed by the bargaining unit member within fourteen (14) days of the date the agency becomes aware of the occurrence, unless the Agency Director orders that an incident be handled through routine supervisory guidance. No Supervisory Observation Form may be written more than sixty (60) days after the agency becomes aware of the nature of the occurrence. Supervisory Observation Forms (NSP 207) shall be attached to the employee's annual performance evaluation when the annual performance evaluation is completed. No negative Supervisory Observation Form (NSP 207) shall be written upon any employee unless the same constitutes poor work performance or a violation of current Nebraska State Patrol policy or procedure.

29.7 Procedures and Safeguards

- 29.7.1 The Agency may conduct investigations to discover the facts and circumstances surrounding any complaint, allegation, or suspicion of wrongdoing by a bargaining unit member. No employee shall have an allegation of untruthfulness, deception, or lack of candor determined to be founded, or be the basis for discipline, unless the allegation is established by evidence that provides the basis for a firm belief or conviction that the employee acted with an intent to deceive, rather than has made a mistake of fact, memory, or mistake of communication. The Agency will take precautions to protect the rights and privacy of personnel being investigated.
- 29.7.2 Investigations conducted by the Agency will not commit any act which would deprive the bargaining unit member of any statutory or constitutional rights or privileges.
- 29.7.3 The Employer will provide the employee with copies of all personnel orders pertaining to bargaining unit members as soon as the personnel orders are issued. As used in this section "personnel orders" shall be defined as all written notices of actual disciplinary actions (notices of intent to take disciplinary actions), transfer notices, promotion notices and termination notices.
- 29.7.4 An employee under investigation may be interviewed by an investigator for Internal Affairs or by a supervisor assigned to investigate as to a matter under investigation. The employee may be compelled to provide information concerning the complaint or allegation of wrongdoing against him/her. Garrity warnings shall be given in the appropriate circumstances on the form found at Appendix D. Counsel or other representative may accompany the employee to the interview.
 - 29.7.4.1 A bargaining unit member shall be required to answer only those questions specifically relating to such member's duties and responsibilities within the scope of his/her employment, and acts or conduct (on or off the job) which adversely affects the employee's performance and/or the employing agency's performance or function. An employee shall only be compelled to respond to questions directly related to the subject matter under investigation by Internal Affairs.
 - 29.7.4.2 Prior to such interview the employee or his/her representative shall be given access to their own applicable case reports, body camera video and dashcam video, and copies of any Complaint Control Form (NSP 801 and 801A) but excluding documents containing confidential or privileged information, at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to such interview.

Notwithstanding the above paragraphs, in cases where an investigation could result in a charge of a Class I misdemeanor or

felony, or there exists an allegation involving dishonesty, reports and materials concerning the internal investigation of the bargaining unit member shall not be disclosed. In such instances, the bargaining unit member shall be advised of the nature of the complaint underlying the investigation.

At the conclusion of the initial interview, the employee or his/her representative shall be given all existing reports contained in the case file, but excluding documents containing confidential or privileged information. The employee or his/her representative shall be allowed to provide a written response to be considered in the disciplinary conference when investigation and the the recommended discipline is of the level of suspension or higher. The employee or his/her representative shall be allowed to provide additional information as well as witness statements in the written response. Such written response must be submitted within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of existing reports contained in the case file, or notification that no such reports shall be provided. The Internal Affairs investigator shall make an attempt to interview the witnesses identified by the employee. If necessary, the timeline for completing the Internal Affairs investigation in cases where initial allegations could result in a felony charge or alleged dishonesty, may be extended. The employee or his/her representative shall be given verbatim transcripts of the interview if they exist. If a transcript does not exist the employee or his/her representative, shall be given a copy of the audio recording.

- 29.7.4.3 "Confidential or privileged" as used herein shall refer to the name or identity, including agency-specific personal identifiable information, of a person providing information about an employee to the Agency or who otherwise fits within the definition of Chapter 27 of the Nebraska State Statutes. Information which the Agency intends to use to impose discipline in the administrative process shall be made available to the employee or his/her representative, but the name or identity of the person providing such information, including agency-specific personal identifiable information, may be removed from the report if the same is deemed "confidential or privileged" as defined herein.
- 29.7.5 The employee shall be entitled to such reasonable intermissions as he/she shall request for personal necessities.
- 29.7.6 The interview of the employee shall be during regular business hours. With the exception of telephone interviews, interviews shall take place at Employer facilities, or elsewhere if mutually agreed unless an emergency exists which requires the interview to be conducted elsewhere. No employee shall be scheduled for interviews on his/her day off; however, any employee who is interviewed off duty will be compensated.

- 29.7.7 The employee under investigation must, at the time of an interview, be informed of the name of the officer in charge of the investigation and the name of the officer who will be conducting the interview.
- 29.7.8 Unless authorized by statute or policy, no bargaining unit members shall be required to submit to a polygraph examination designed to measure the truthfulness of his or her responses during an investigation of a complaint or allegation of wrongdoing.
- 29.7.9 When a bargaining unit member is questioned or interviewed concerning a complaint or allegation, he or she will be informed, prior to questioning of the nature of the investigation and whether he or she is a witness or subject at that time. All such interviews and questions shall be conducted in a professional manner.

29.8 Disciplinary Process

- 29.8.1 A decision of an employee's appropriate supervisor to forward an allegation of misconduct to the Director or designee shall result in the appropriate supervisor not having further decision making involvement into such investigation although the supervisor may make a recommendation as to the appropriate discipline to be administered.
- 29.8.2 Upon completion of the investigation, the completed investigatory file shall be sent to an impartial supervisor along with a recommendation as to whether the allegations appear to be founded or unfounded. This supervisor shall be unconnected to the investigation, outside of the bargaining unit, and not a witness, investigator for Internal Affairs, or complainant. The supervisor shall normally be the Troop or Division Commander, or his/her designee, of the employee whose conduct is under investigation. If the recommendation is that the case is founded, the supervisor will schedule a disciplinary conference and forward a recommendation to the Agency Director.
- 29.8.3 The current personnel file of the affected bargaining unit member shall accompany any Internal Affairs file or investigatory file forwarded to the Agency Director to be used as mitigating evidence, and in order for the Agency Director to give due consideration to progressive discipline principles. Before making a decision to place an employee on investigatory suspension without pay, the employee shall be given an opportunity to meet with the Superintendent or his/her designee to present information bearing on the propriety of a suspension without pay. The employee may elect to waive this opportunity.
- 29.8.4 A disciplinary conference shall be conducted between the employee and the agency director prior to the imposition of the disciplinary action if requested by the employee and the recommended discipline is one of those listed as 3., 4., 5., or 6. in paragraph 29.1.1 (suspension and more serious). The employee shall have three (3) working days' notice of such meeting. The employee shall have the right

to be represented in the disciplinary conference by an individual of his/her choice or legal counsel. The employee shall be afforded an opportunity in such conference to present mitigating circumstances to the Agency Director or designee. The conference can be conducted either telephonically or in person by the Colonel, or if he/she is unavailable, the Lieutenant Colonel. Any discipline ordered or imposed shall be administered to the employee by the Troop or Division Commander or his/her designee.

- 29.8.5 The Internal Affairs investigation shall be conducted and submitted to the Agency Director. The final decision on the matter will be given to the affected employee within a total of seventy (70) calendar days of receipt of the complaint at State Headquarters, or within seventy (70) calendar days of the initiation of the investigation when the investigation was on hold awaiting the results of a criminal investigation. EXCEPTIONS Both parties recognize that the complexity and seriousness of allegations require a complete, thorough, and impartial investigation. In order to accomplish this, protect the employee's and the organization's interests, exceptions to the time limits may be necessary. Should an extension be required, the following steps shall be taken:
 - 1. Internal Affairs (or appropriate investigating officer) will request an extension in writing to the Director specifying the reasons.
 - 2. The employee shall receive a copy of such request for extension.
 - 3. The employee shall receive a copy of the approved extension.
- 29.8.6 No materials or reports involving an allegation shall be entered into any official personnel file nor shall that allegation be used to enhance discipline of the member where the investigation has exonerated the member and/or the allegations were determined to be unfounded or not sustained.
- 29.8.7 Bargaining unit members shall be allowed to obtain a copy of his or her statements made if such statements are reduced to writing or recorded. A copy shall be provided to the bargaining unit member free of charge and as soon as possible.
- 29.8.8 All personnel data maintained by the Agency Personnel offices in computer data bases, microfilms, and personnel folders shall be secured in strict conformance with state law governing the confidentiality of information. Information concerning an employee's or former employee's name, position, gross salary, date of hire, date of separation, and agency where employed shall be considered public information. Non-public information may be released to the employee, the employee's supervisory chain of command, and/or agency administrative personnel. Non-public information regarding the status or outcome of an internal investigation or discipline shall be disclosed to the Legislature, the Nebraska Commission on Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice, the Nebraska Police Standards Advisory Council, the Equal Opportunity Commission, or a complainant, at the discretion of the Superintendent of Law Enforcement and

Public Safety. Non-public information shall be released to any requesting party provided the employee has signed a release authorization or otherwise indicated in writing that such release may occur, or an enforceable subpoena, court order, or legal warrant is served requesting such information. The agency shall notify an employee or, in the absence of the employee, the association, as soon as practicable upon receipt of a subpoena, order or warrant. In no event shall a subpoena be complied with by the agency unless the employee or his/her representative is first notified and provided 5 business days to take action.

- 29.8.9 Copies of any documents obtained by an employee or his/her representative from an Internal Investigation file shall be used solely for the purpose of the disciplinary proceeding or appeals therefrom, and shall not be released to parties outside of the Nebraska State Patrol without the express written approval of the Superintendent and the employee. Any remaining copies not used as evidence shall be returned to the Internal Affairs Division at the conclusion of the disciplinary proceeding or any appeal therefrom. This provision shall not prohibit the employee or his/her representative from employing an expert to review the file for testimonial or evidentiary purposes.
- 29.9 Disposition
 - 29.9.1 Bargaining unit members under investigation shall be informed, in writing, of the disposition of the investigations conducted.
- 29.10 An employee on disciplinary suspension or probation shall be entitled to maintain outside employment during such suspension or probation as long as such outside employment meets all of the criteria set out in 12.1 and 12.4.
- 29.11 Discipline and Leave

An employee who is suspended as a part of a disciplinary action may use vacation leave, compensatory time, or holiday compensatory time to receive pay for up to 5 days of the suspension, only when such suspension is a minimum of 10 days in length.

ARTICLE 30 - EMERGENCY CONDITIONS

- 30.1 <u>Emergency Conditions</u>
 - 30.1.1 In the event that the Agency Director determines that civil emergency conditions exist, the Agency Director may take whatever reasonable actions may be necessary to carry out the missions of the State in said situations of emergency.

ARTICLE 31 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

31.1 <u>Savings Clause</u>

31.1 If any provision of this Labor Contract is subsequently declared by the proper legislative or judicial authority to be unlawful, unenforceable or not in accordance with applicable statutes, all other provisions of this Labor Contract shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Labor Contract. The parties shall meet as soon as possible to agree on a substitute provision should any provision of this Labor Contract be declared unlawful, unenforceable or not in accordance with applicable statutes. If the parties are unable to agree on a substitute provision within 30 days following commencement of the initial meeting, the provision becomes inoperative and the matter shall be postponed until Labor Contract negotiations are reopened.

ARTICLE 32 - MISCELLANEOUS

32.1 Wellness

Any provision for the wellness program will be at the discretion of the Superintendent or Agency Head and is non-grievable.

32.2 Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP)

State Patrol employees hired after January 4, 1979 who are eligible for and elect to enter the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP), shall be paid for all unused compensatory time at the time of entry into the Deferred Retirement Option Plan. Payment will be made at the employee's hourly rate in effect at the time of entry into the Plan. This payment shall be made within the employee's next two regularly scheduled pay periods.

State Patrol employees hired on or prior to January 4, 1979 who are eligible for and elect to enter the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP), shall be paid for all unused vacation leave, forty-five percent of his/her sick leave not to exceed 50 days, and compensatory time at the time of entry into the Deferred Retirement Option Plan. Payment received for unused vacation and sick leave accumulated during the final 3 years of service only shall be included in the final average monthly salary calculation. Payment will be made at the employee's hourly rate in effect at the time of entry into the Plan. This payment shall be made within the employee's next two regularly scheduled pay periods.

Per Nebraska Revised Statute section 81-2041 State Patrol employees hired on or after July 1, 2016 are specifically prohibited from participating in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP).

ARTICLE 33 – VOLUNTARY AND INVOLUNTARY TRANSFER AND RESIGNATIONS

33.1 Voluntary Transfer

The Agency will notify personnel where vacancies must be filled. A unit member may volunteer to relocate to fill such a vacancy. When two or more unit members volunteer to move, the most senior unit member, who possesses the requisite qualifications, shall be granted the position.

33.2 Hardship Transfer

At the State Patrol, the Superintendent may grant an officer's request for transfer for reasons of personal hardship to another duty location for reasons of personal hardship. The request shall be made in writing and shall clearly and completely describe the hardship. Hardship transfers will not be granted when another bargaining unit member has previously requested a transfer to a vacancy at the same location based on the provisions of 33.1. The decision of the Superintendent shall be final.

33.3 Involuntary Transfer

In the event requests for voluntary transfer do not elicit sufficient response to fill a vacant duty station in a troop area or district to be increased in strength, the Agency may temporarily transfer the least senior unit member in the troop area or district, who possesses the requisite qualifications, to fill a vacancy. Temporary shall mean until a permanent assignment can be made.

33.3.1 Bargaining unit members may be transferred to or from the Executive Protection/Capitol Detail Division at the discretion of the Superintendent. Such transfers shall not be subject to Sections 33.1, 33.2, 33.3. The decision of the Superintendent shall be final.

33.4 <u>Resignation</u>

To resign in good standing, an employee must give written notice to the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee, at least ten (10) work days before separation, unless the Agency Head and/or his/her Designee agrees to a shorter period.

33.5 Bargaining unit positions assigned to specialty divisions/positions, regardless of Level per Section 21.3.2, which are listed below shall not be governed by Section 33.1, 33.2, and 33.3 of this agreement. Specialty divisions/positions shall be defined as: Air Wing, Police Service Dog Handlers (K9), Training Academy Sergeants, ISO Sergeants, and Carrier Enforcement Investigative Sergeants.

The Patrol may conduct an interview process for all positions the rank of Sergeant or below in which the primary responsibility is other than traffic or motor carrier enforcement. If a selection process is not conducted sections 33.1, 33.2 and 33.3 shall apply.

ARTICLE 34 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- 34.1 This Agreement shall be effective on the first day of July, 2025, and shall remain in full force and effect until the 30th day of June, 2027. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the entire period of negotiations for a modification of this Agreement and shall be extended until such time as a new or modified Agreement is approved by both parties or any other required authority in the manner set forth in the State Employees Collective Bargaining Act except that no salary increases shall be granted under this agreement subsequent to the 30th day of June, 2027.
 - 34.1A Joint Survey Information. The Employer agrees to meet with the representative of the Council to further discuss the possibility of a joint survey, the data to be collected, which duties each party would be responsible for, and how the costs would be allocated.
 - 34.1B The employer shall make available to SLEBC, upon its reasonable request, any information and records relevant to negotiations or as necessary for proper enforcement of the terms of this Labor Contract.
- 34.2 Negotiations for a new Labor Contract shall be conducted in compliance with the terms of the State Employees Collective Bargaining Act (Neb. Rev. Stat. Sections 81-1369 to 81-1388). Negotiations for the successor Contract shall be conducted utilizing the following procedure:
 - 34.2.1 On or before September 1, 2026, the Council and State shall initiate bargaining for a successor contract. By mutual agreement of the parties the date for the exchange of proposals may be modified.
 - 34.2.2 The time frames contained in this Article may be modified by mutual agreement between the parties.
- 34.3 It is agreed that this Agreement contains the full and complete agreement on all subjects upon which the parties did bargain or could have bargained. Neither party shall be required, during the term of this Agreement, to negotiate or bargain upon any other issue except for substitute provisions as provided in the Savings Clause (Article 31). All subjects referred to in the Management's Rights Clause shall likewise be deemed to have been raised and bargained to a conclusion. All terms of this Agreement are subject to budgetary and/or legislative limitations or changes.

ARTICLE 35 - EMPLOYEE DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

35.1 The parties agree the workplace should be free from the risks posed by the use of alcohol or illegal use of controlled substances in order to protect the safety of employees and the public. The manufacture, distribution, illegal possession, or unlawful use of a controlled substance or alcohol in the workplace is prohibited. An employee assistance program is

available to employees with personal problems, including those associated with alcohol or controlled substances use.

35.2 PROCEDURES FOR DRUG TESTING:

- 35.2.1 PURPOSE: To protect the personal safety of employees, State property and the general public. Employees shall not be permitted to perform their duties or enter upon the premises of the Employer while under the influence of alcohol, the illegal use of drugs and/or controlled substances. Nothing prohibits the employee from being subject to disciplinary action for inappropriate or illegal acts performed while under the influence of a controlled substance or alcohol while on duty. The Employer may take disciplinary action only for just cause, with consideration to mitigating information, as a result of the employee's inability to perform required duties. The employee retains his/her grievance rights provided for in the SLEBC Labor Agreement.
- 35.2.2 APPLICABILITY: All employees, however, employees with commercial driver's licenses will be subject to testing as specified by the Federal Department of Transportation. Testing to be conducted by the Employer or contracted licensed vendor hired by the Employer. The following situations/conditions may require tests to be conducted of employees. For employees, failure or refusal to submit to such tests may result in disciplinary action:
 - 1. Work accident
 - 2. Critical incident
 - 3. Commercial Drivers (CD)
 - 4. Return to duty
 - 5. Reasonable Suspicion
 - 6. Discharging a firearm, either accidental discharge or discharge involving civilian contact.

35.2.3 METHODS OF TESTING:

- 1. Drug Analysis Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry urinalysis testing shall be the only method of testing.
- 2. Alcohol Analysis Breath testing shall be the only method of testing. A positive test shall be considered a level of .02 or above.
- 3. Controlled Substances Tested; THC, cocaine, opiates, phencyclidine (PCP), amphetamines/methamphetamine, benzodiazepine, barbiturates, LSD, and any derivatives from these controlled substances.
- 4. If an employee is required to provide a fluid sample, such sample shall only be provided at an established medical facility or laboratory, or in accordance with any applicable statutory requirements.

- 35.2.4 Work Time for Test Administration of Drug Testing: The employee shall be considered on work time pertaining to the administration of alcohol/drug testing, including overtime. All time used under this testing process shall be considered time worked for purposes of wages and overtime; and all testing costs shall be borne by the Employer. Upon request, an employee may have an available employee representative present if being requested to undergo an alcohol/drug test. The employee shall be provided a copy of the test results as reported by the testing vendor or facility.
- 35.2.5 Employer/Employee Options to Positive Test Results: Employees may be allowed a leave of absence for treatment on an inpatient or outpatient basis. Employees participating in rehabilitation programs shall be entitled to use their accumulated leave time. Nothing herein shall be construed to diminish any rights which may apply under the ADA, FMLA, or other relevant laws.
- 35.2.6 The Employer shall make reasonable efforts to reassign employees who are participating in an outpatient rehabilitation program to duties within their job description or temporarily reassign to another position for which he/she is qualified, until the employee is able to return to regularly assigned duties, with such return subject to the employee following the rehabilitation treatment program.
- 35.2.7 Definitions:
 - 1. Commercial Drivers (CD) Testing: Employees required to hold a Commercial Driver's License (CDL) are subject to the Federal Department of Transportation Guidelines.
 - 2. Critical Incident Testing: Occurs when actions of an employee may have caused serious physical injury or death of any person(s).
 - 3. Work Accident Testing: Occurs when an employee is involved in an accident where the employee, another employee, or a person in the public is injured; and/or State property or public property is damaged in excess of \$5,000 while the employee is on duty.
 - 4. Return to Duty Alcohol/Drug Testing: Occurs when an employee has been tested for alcohol or illegal drugs with positive results, that employee will need to submit to testing prior to returning to work.
 - 5. Follow Up Drug Testing: Upon request, an employee, who has a verified positive result for the illegal use of a controlled substance listed in the 'Controlled Substance Tested' section, will need to submit to follow up testing. The Employer shall have the right to follow up testing once within the following six months from the date of employee's last positive test results.
 - 6. Reasonable Suspicion Alcohol and Drug Testing: Reports of reasonable suspicion go immediately to the immediate supervisor who notifies the Agency Head or designee, and will be documented. The affected employee is relieved

from duty and shall immediately meet with the Facility/Program Administrator or designee to discuss the matter, assess the situation, and to determine the appropriate course of action, which may not necessarily require a substance abuse test.

APPENDIX A

AUTHORIZATION FOR PAYROLL DEDUCTION STATE LAW ENFORCEMENT BARGAINING COUNCIL

I hereby authorize the deduction of \$______ from my monthly paycheck to be forwarded to the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council as monthly dues and to ensure benefits as a member in good standing.

Name	Badge #						
(Please print)	Badge #(if appropriate)						
Social Security Number	Date						
Duty Station or Location	Troop Area or Division						
This authorization will be forwarded to	the appropriate Agency Accounting Office.						
	Signature						
	Badge #						
	Badge #(if appropriate)						
Spouse's Name							
Please complete both portions of this for	rm and return to:						

State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council 8540 Executive Woods Drive, Suite 500 Lincoln, NE 68512

APPENDIX B

REVOCATION OF PAYROLL DEDUCTION STATE LAW ENFORCEMENT BARGAINING COUNCIL

I hereby revoke my written authorization for payroll deduction for membership in the State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council.

Name	Badge #
Name(Please print)	Badge # (if appropriate)
Social Security Number	Date
Duty Station or Location	Troop Area or Division
This revocation will be forwarded to the appropriate Age	ency Accounting Office.
Sign	nature
REVOCATION OF PAYROL	
Name	Badge # (if appropriate)
Please complete both portions of this form and return to:	
Appropriate Agency Accounting Office	

APPENDIX C - MOVING EXPENSES

Employees who are relocated to another geographical location for the benefit of the employing agency shall be reimbursed for moving expenses. Employees relocating to another geographical area at their own request, for their personal benefit need not be reimbursed for expenses incurred.

Whether or not a relocation is for the benefit of the employing agency shall be determined on an individual basis by the agency head. The decision of the agency head is a non-grievable issue. Promotions may be considered as a benefit to the employing agency.

Payment of moving expenses shall be made only with the prior written approval of the agency head. The written agreement shall include a listing of the items that will be reimbursed.

- **a.** <u>New Employee</u> The state may reimburse a newly appointed employee, excluding temporary employees, for moving expenses or a portion of these expenses, at the agency head's discretion, provided the employee agrees in writing to remain in the employment of the State for a period of one year.
- **b.** <u>**Resignation**</u> If an employee, whose moving expenses (all or part) have been paid, resigns within 1 year of the move, the agency head may require the employee to reimburse the agency for a portion of the moving expenses, based on the length of time the employee worked for the agency after the move.
- c. <u>Personnel Record</u> Agencies should reimburse the employee using an employee Expense Reimbursement Document. Then the agency's Payroll staff should do a one-time override using DBA code 5700 for qualified (non-taxable) expenses and/or DBA code 5800 for nonqualified (taxable) expenses. Using these DBA codes does not create additional pay for the employee, but correctly records these amounts for inclusion on the employee's W-2. A memo(s) signed by both the agency and the employee, agreeing to the amount of moving expenses to be paid and the portion of which is taxable, shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.
- **d.** <u>**Receipts</u>** Original receipts are required in order to be reimbursed; including closing statement and invoices from vendors.</u>
- e. <u>Eligibility For Reimbursement</u> The employee's new job location must be 50 miles farther from the employee's old residence than the old residence was from the old job location. If deemed necessary, the agency head may make a request to the Director of Administrative Services for a waiver of this requirement. If this waiver is granted, all related moving expenses will be taxable. In order to be reimbursed for any expenses under this policy, the expenses must be incurred by the employee no later than one year from the date the employee is officially transferred to the new duty station.
- f. <u>Taxability of Reimbursement</u> Certain reimbursements for Qualified moving expenses are excluded from income as Qualified fringe benefits under IRS Section 217. Non-Qualified reimbursed expenses are wages subject to withholding and payroll taxes. Expenses listed under g. (below) have been classified as Qualified moving expenses (not reportable) or as Non-Qualified (reportable and subject to withholding) expenses.

Although Qualified moving expenses that are reimbursed to the employee are not reportable as income on the employee's W-2, they must be reported in box 12 on the employee's W-2. Qualified moving expenses paid directly to a third party (mover) no longer need to be reported on the employee's W-2.

g. <u>Expenses Qualifying for Reimbursement -</u>

1)

Qualified Moving Expenses (not reportable as taxable wages)

- a) Transportation of Household and Personal Goods.
 - i) Actual, reasonable costs shall be reimbursed for the costs of a commercial mover (including packing and transit insurance). The payment for the type of items moved will be at the agency head's discretion.
 - ii) Actual, reasonable costs may be paid for a self-move at the agency head's discretion including rental of personal property (van, trailers, two-wheel carts, etc.).
 - iii) The State will reimburse the employee for actual reasonable costs of moving a house trailer or mobile dwelling if it is the employee's principle place of residence and if the cost of moving the house trailer/mobile dwelling is no more than the cost associated with having commercial movers pack and transport household goods. If the cost of moving the house trailer/mobile dwelling is more than the cost associated with having commercial movers pack and transport household goods, the employee will be reimbursed only the amount that would normally be paid for transporting household goods. In order to receive reimbursement, the employee shall provide documentation of these costs. If the State has reimbursed the employee for moving the house trailer/mobile dwelling, the State will not pay any additional cost for moving household goods or for storage of household goods.

NOTE: When a commercial carrier is to be used in g.1.a above, the employee is to obtain firm bids from a minimum of two (2) commercial carriers. Acceptance of a bid will be at the agency head's discretion. Charges incurred for obtaining bids are reimbursable.

- b) Travel to the New Location. Transportation costs (by the most direct route) and reasonable lodging (excluding meals) as approved by the agency head shall be reimbursed for the employee and all family members living with the employee at the time of the move. Transportation costs will be reimbursed at the rate established by the Internal Revenue Service through its Revenue Procedures.
- c) Costs to disconnect and reconnect utilities.
- d) Costs of shipping your car and your household pets to your new home.

e) Costs of storing and insuring household goods and personal effects within any period of 30 consecutive days after the day your things are moved from your former home and before they are delivered to your new home.

2) Non-Qualified Moving Expenses (*reportable and subject to withholding*).

<u>NOTE</u>: At the agency head's discretion, reimbursement may be made for reasonable taxable expenses as listed below.

- a) Travel to the New Location. Meal expenses may be reimbursed for the employee and all family members living with the employee at the time of the move.
- b) **Pre-move House Hunting Trips.** Transportation costs established by the Internal Revenue Service through its Revenue Procedures, reasonable lodging and meal expenses may be reimbursed for the employee and spouse for a maximum of two pre-move house hunting trips.
- c) Temporary Lodging. Reasonable expenses of occupying temporary lodging (excluding meals) in the new job location may be reimbursed for up to 30 consecutive calendar days or until permanent lodging is established, whichever is earlier. Under special circumstances, the 30 consecutive calendar days may be waived. Agencies should submit a written request to the State Accounting Administrator explaining the reason for the waiver.

NOTE: The mileage reimbursement rate established by the Internal Revenue Service through its Revenue Procedures is effective for all employees not covered under a collective bargaining agreement, or in which the bargaining agreement does not specify a mileage rate.

- d) Cost of storing and insuring household goods and personal effects over 30 days after the day your things are moved from your former home and before they are delivered to your new home.
- e) Miscellaneous Expenses of Principle Residence Sale/purchase. Usual and customary expenses may be reimbursed, which may include:
 - i) Actual realtor's commission for the sale of the employee's principle residence in the old job location
 - ii) Recording Fees
 - iii) Title/Abstract Fees
 - iv) Documentary Stamp Tax
 - v) Appraisal Fee
 - vi) Credit Bureau Fee
 - vii) Survey Fee
 - viii) Inspections

<u>NOTE</u>: No reimbursement shall be made for home improvements, points, loan fees, interest, taxes, liens, etc.

APPENDIX D - GARRITY WARNING

I wish to advise you that you are being questioned as part of an official internal affairs investigation of the Nebraska State Patrol (or appropriate agency). You will be asked questions specifically directed and narrowly related to the performance of your official duties or fitness for office. You are entitled to all the rights and privileges guaranteed by the laws and the constitution of this State and the Constitution of the United States, including the right not to be compelled to incriminate yourself. I further wish to advise you that if you refuse to testify or to answer questions relating to the performance of your official duties or fitness for duty, you will be subject to disciplinary action which could result in your dismissal from the Nebraska State Patrol (or appropriate agency). If you do answer, neither your statements nor any information or evidence which is gained by reason of such statements can be used against you in any subsequent criminal proceeding. However, these statements may be used against you in relation to subsequent disciplinary action.

Employee

Witness

Date

Time

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	APPEND Step 4	DIX E PA Step 5	Y PLAN Step 6	July 1, 2025 Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13
Fire Marshal Deputy	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$25.69 \$4,452.93	\$56,695.60 \$27.26 \$4,724.63 \$2,180.60	\$59,956.00 \$28.83 \$4,996.33 \$2,306.00	\$63,216.40 \$30.39 \$5,268.03 \$2,431.40	\$66,476.80 \$31.96 \$5,539.73 \$2,556.80	\$69,737.20 \$33.53 \$5,811.43 \$2,682.20	\$72,997.60 \$35.10 \$6,083.13 \$2,807.60	\$76,258.00 \$36.66 \$6,354.83 \$2,933.00	\$79,518.40 \$38.23 \$6,626.53 \$3,058.40	\$82,778.80 \$39.80 \$6,898.23 \$3,183.80	\$86,039.20 \$41.37 \$7,169.93 \$3,309.20	\$89,299.60 \$42.93 \$7,441.63 \$3,434.60	\$92,560.00 \$44.50 \$7,713.33 \$3,560.00
State Patrol Trooper	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$32.45 \$5,624.67	\$70,408.80 \$33.85 \$5,867.40 \$2,708.03	\$73,321.59 \$35.25 \$6,110.13 \$2,820.06	\$76,234.39 \$36.65 \$6,352.87 \$2,932.09	\$79,147.19 \$38.05 \$6,595.60 \$3,044.12	\$82,059.99 \$39.45 \$6,838.33 \$3,156.15	\$84,972.78 \$40.85 \$7,081.07 \$3,268.18	\$87,885.58 \$42.25 \$7,323.80 \$3,380.21	\$90,798.38 \$43.65 \$7,566.53 \$3,492.25	\$93,711.18 \$45.05 \$7,809.26 \$3,604.28	\$96,623.97 \$46.45 \$8,052.00 \$3,716.31	\$99,536.77 \$47.85 \$8,294.73 \$3,828.34	\$102,449.57 \$49.25 \$8,537.46 \$3,940.37
State Patrol Sergeant	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$82,804.80 \$39.81 \$6,900.40 7 \$3,184.80	\$86,342.53 \$41.51 \$7,195.21 \$3,320.87	\$89,880.27 \$43.21 \$7,490.02 \$3,456.93	\$93,418.00 \$44.91 \$7,784.83 \$3,593.00	\$96,955.73 \$46.61 \$8,079.64 \$3,729.07	\$100,493.47 \$48.31 \$8,374.46 \$3,865.13	\$104,031.20 \$50.02 \$8,669.27 \$4,001.20	\$107,568.93 \$51.72 \$8,964.08 \$4,137.27	\$111,106.67 \$53.42 \$9,258.89 \$4,273.33	\$114,644.40 \$55.12 \$9,553.70 \$4,409.40	\$118,182.13 \$56.82 \$9,848.51 \$4,545.47	\$121,719.87 \$58.52 \$10,143.32 \$4,681.53	\$125,257.60 \$60.22 \$10,438.13 \$4,817.60
State Patrol Investigation Officer & EP Trooper	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$73,424.00 \$35.30 \$6,118.67 \$2,824.00	\$77,206.13 \$37.12 \$6,433.84 \$2,969.47	\$80,988.27 \$38.94 \$6,749.02 \$3,114.93	\$84,770.40 \$40.76 \$7,064.20 \$3,260.40	\$88,552.53 \$42.57 \$7,379.38 \$3,405.87	\$92,334.67 \$44.39 \$7,694.56 \$3,551.33	\$96,116.80 \$46.21 \$8,009.73 \$3,696.80	\$99,898.93 \$48.03 \$8,324.91 \$3,842.27	\$103,681.07 \$49.85 \$8,640.09 \$3,987.73	\$107,463.20 \$51.67 \$8,955.27 \$4,133.20	\$111,245.33 \$53.48 \$9,270.44 \$4,278.67	\$115,027.47 \$55.30 \$9,585.62 \$4,424.13	\$118,809.60 \$57.12 \$9,900.80 \$4,569.60
State Patrol Investigation Sergeant & EP Sergeant	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$92,185.60 \$44.32 \$7,682.13 \$3,545.60	\$95,733.73 \$46.03 \$7,977.81 \$3,682.07	\$99,281.87 \$47.73 \$8,273.49 \$3,818.53	\$102,830.00 \$49.44 \$8,569.17 \$3,955.00	\$106,378.13 \$51.14 \$8,864.84 \$4,091.47	\$109,926.27 \$52.85 \$9,160.52 \$4,227.93	\$113,474.40 \$54.56 \$9,456.20 \$4,364.40	\$117,022.53 \$56.26 \$9,751.88 \$4,500.87	\$57.97	\$59.67	\$127,666.93 \$61.38 \$10,638.91 \$4,910.27	\$63.08	\$134,763.20 \$64.79 \$11,230.27 \$5,183.20
State Patrol Trooper Performing Pilot duties	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$34.07 \$5,905.47	\$73,924.93 \$35.54 \$6,160.41 \$2,843.27	\$76,984.27 \$37.01 \$6,415.36 \$2,960.93	\$80,043.60 \$38.48 \$6,670.30 \$3,078.60	\$83,102.93 \$39.95 \$6,925.24 \$3,196.27	\$86,162.27 \$41.42 \$7,180.19 \$3,313.93	\$89,221.60 \$42.90 \$7,435.13 \$3,431.60	\$92,280.93 \$44.37 \$7,690.08 \$3,549.27	\$95,340.27 \$45.84 \$7,945.02 \$3,666.93	\$98,399.60 \$47.31 \$8,199.97 \$3,784.60	\$101,458.93 \$48.78 \$8,454.91 \$3,902.27	\$104,518.27 \$50.25 \$8,709.86 \$4,019.93	\$107,577.60 \$51.72 \$8,964.80 \$4,137.60
State Patrol Sergeant Performing Pilot duties	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$41.80 \$7,245.33	\$90,658.53 \$43.59 \$7,554.88 \$3,486.87	\$94,373.07 \$45.37 \$7,864.42 \$3,629.73	\$98,087.60 \$47.16 \$8,173.97 \$3,772.60	\$101,802.13 \$48.94 \$8,483.51 \$3,915.47	\$105,516.67 \$50.73 \$8,793.06 \$4,058.33	\$109,231.20 \$52.52 \$9,102.60 \$4,201.20	\$112,945.73 \$54.30 \$9,412.14 \$4,344.07	\$116,660.27 \$56.09 \$9,721.69 \$4,486.93	\$57.87	\$124,089.33 \$59.66 \$10,340.78 \$4,772.67	\$61.44	\$131,518.40 \$63.23 \$10,959.87 \$5,058.40

2025-2027

SLEBC -- STATE OF NEBRASKA LABOR CONTRACT

					AP	PENDIX E	PAY PLA	AN July 1,	2025							
		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Game & Parks Conservation Officer	Annual Hourly	\$56,680.00 \$27.25	\$59,226.51 \$28.47	\$61,773.03 \$29.70	\$64,319.54 \$30.92	\$66,866.06 \$32.15	\$69,412.57 \$33.37	\$71,959.09 \$34.60	\$74,505.60 \$35.82	\$77,052.11 \$37.04	\$79,598.63 \$38.27	\$82,145.14 \$39.49	\$84,691.66 \$40.72	\$87,238.17 \$41.94	\$89,784.69 \$43.17	\$92,331.20 \$44.39
	Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$4,723.33 \$2,180.00	\$4,935.54 \$2,277.94	\$5,147.75 \$2,375.89	\$5,359.96 \$2,473.83	\$5,572.17 \$2,571.77	\$5,784.38 \$2,669.71	\$5,996.59 \$2,767.66	\$6,208.80 \$2,865.60	\$6,421.01 \$2,963.54	\$6,633.22 \$3,061.49	\$6,845.43 \$3,159.43	\$7,057.64 \$3,257.37	\$7,269.85 \$3,355.31	\$7,482.06 \$3,453.26	\$7,694.27 \$3,551.20
Game and Parks Sergeant	Annual Hourly Monthly	\$69,555.20 \$33.44 \$5,796.27	\$72,678.17 \$34.94 \$6,056.51	\$75,801.14 \$36.44 \$6,316.76	\$78,924.11 \$37.94 \$6,577.01	\$82,047.09 \$39.45 \$6,837.26	\$85,170.06 \$40.95 \$7,097.50	\$88,293.03 \$42.45 \$7,357.75	\$91,416.00 \$43.95 \$7,618.00	\$94,538.97 \$45.45 \$7,878.25	\$97,661.94 \$46.95 \$8,138.50	\$100,784.91 \$48.45 \$8,398.74	\$103,907.89 \$49.96 \$8,658.99	\$107,030.86 \$51.46 \$8,919.24	\$110,153.83 \$52.96 \$9,179.49	\$113,276.80 \$54.46 \$9,439.73
	Bi-Weekly	\$2,675.20	\$2,795.31	\$2,915.43	\$3,035.54	\$3,155.66	\$3,275.77	\$3,395.89	\$3,516.00	\$3,636.11	\$3,756.23	\$3,876.34	\$3,996.46	\$4,116.57	\$4,236.69	\$4,356.80
Game and Parks Investigation Officer	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$29.65 \$5,139.33	\$64,441.37 \$30.98 \$5,370.11 \$2,478.51	\$67,210.74 \$32.31 \$5,600.90 \$2,585.03	\$69,980.11 \$33.64 \$5,831.68 \$2,691.54	\$72,749.49 \$34.98 \$6,062.46 \$2,798.06	\$75,518.86 \$36.31 \$6,293.24 \$2,904.57	\$78,288.23 \$37.64 \$6,524.02 \$3,011.09	\$81,057.60 \$38.97 \$6,754.80 \$3,117.60	\$83,826.97 \$40.30 \$6,985.58 \$3,224.11	\$86,596.34 \$41.63 \$7,216.36 \$3,330.63	\$89,365.71 \$42.96 \$7,447.14 \$3,437.14	\$92,135.09 \$44.30 \$7,677.92 \$3,543.66	\$94,904.46 \$45.63 \$7,908.70 \$3,650.17	\$97,673.83 \$46.96 \$8,139.49 \$3,756.69	\$100,443.20 \$48.29 \$8,370.27 \$3,863.20

					APPEND	IXE PAY	PLAN Ju	y 1, 2026						
		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13
Fire Marshal Deputy	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$26.72 \$4,631.05	\$58,963.42 \$28.35 \$4,913.62 \$2,267.82	\$62,354.24 \$29.98 \$5,196.19 \$2,398.24	\$65,745.06 \$31.61 \$5,478.75 \$2,528.66	\$69,135.87 \$33.24 \$5,761.32 \$2,659.07	\$72,526.69 \$34.87 \$6,043.89 \$2,789.49	\$75,917.50 \$36.50 \$6,326.46 \$2,919.90	\$79,308.32 \$38.13 \$6,609.03 \$3,050.32	\$82,699.14 \$39.76 \$6,891.59 \$3,180.74	\$86,089.95 \$41.39 \$7,174.16 \$3,311.15	\$89,480.77 \$43.02 \$7,456.73 \$3,441.57	\$92,871.58 \$44.65 \$7,739.30 \$3,571.98	\$96,262.40 \$46.28 \$8,021.87 \$3,702.40
State Patrol Trooper	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$33.75 \$5,849.65	\$73,225.15 \$35.20 \$6,102.10 \$2,816.35	\$76,254.46 \$36.66 \$6,354.54 \$2,932.86	\$79,283.77 \$38.12 \$6,606.98 \$3,049.38	\$82,313.08 \$39.57 \$6,859.42 \$3,165.89	\$85,342.39 \$41.03 \$7,111.87 \$3,282.40	\$88,371.70 \$42.49 \$7,364.31 \$3,398.91	\$91,401.00 \$43.94 \$7,616.75 \$3,515.42	\$94,430.31 \$45.40 \$7,869.19 \$3,631.94	\$97,459.62 \$46.86 \$8,121.64 \$3,748.45	\$100,488.93 \$48.31 \$8,374.08 \$3,864.96	\$103,518.24 \$49.77 \$8,626.52 \$3,981.47	\$106,547.55 \$51.22 \$8,878.96 \$4,097.98
State Patrol Sergeant	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-We ekly	\$86,116.99 \$41.40 \$7,176.42 \$3,312.19	\$89,796.23 \$43.17 \$7,483.02 \$3,453.70	\$93,475.48 \$44.94 \$7,789.62 \$3,595.21	\$97,154.72 \$46.71 \$8,096.23 \$3,736.72	\$100,833.96 \$48.48 \$8,402.83 \$3,878.23	\$104,513.21 \$50.25 \$8,709.43 \$4,019.74	\$108,192.45 \$52.02 \$9,016.04 \$4,161.25	\$111,871.69 \$53.78 \$9,322.64 \$4,302.76	\$115,550.93 \$55.55 \$9,629.24 \$4,444.27	\$119,230.18 \$57.32 \$9,935.85 \$4,585.78	\$59.09	\$126,588.66 \$60.86 \$10,549.06 \$4,868.79	\$130,267.90 \$62.63 \$10,855.66 \$5,010.30
State Patrol Investigation Officer & EP Trooper	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-We ekly	\$36.71 \$6,363.41	\$80,294.38 \$38.60 \$6,691.20 \$3,088.25	\$84,227.80 \$40.49 \$7,018.98 \$3,239.53	\$88,161.22 \$42.39 \$7,346.77 \$3,390.82	\$92,094.63 \$44.28 \$7,674.55 \$3,542.10	\$96,028.05 \$46.17 \$8,002.34 \$3,693.39	\$99,961.47 \$48.06 \$8,330.12 \$3,844.67	\$103,894.89 \$49.95 \$8,657.91 \$3,995.96	\$107,828.31 \$51.84 \$8,985.69 \$4,147.24	\$111,761.73 \$53.73 \$9,313.48 \$4,298.53	\$115,695.15 \$55.62 \$9,641.26 \$4,449.81	\$119,628.57 \$57.51 \$9,969.05 \$4,601.10	\$123,561.98 \$59.40 \$10,296.83 \$4,752.38
State Patrol Investigation Sergeant & EP Sergeant	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-We ekly	\$95,873.02 \$46.09 \$7,989.42 \$3,687.42	\$99,563.08 \$47.87 \$8,296.92 \$3,829.35	\$103,253.14 \$49.64 \$8,604.43 \$3,971.27	\$106,943.20 \$51.42 \$8,911.93 \$4,113.20	\$110,633.26 \$53.19 \$9,219.44 \$4,255.13	\$114,323.32 \$54.96 \$9,526.94 \$4,397.05	\$118,013.38 \$56.74 \$9,834.45 \$4,538.98	\$121,703.43 \$58.51 \$10,141.95 \$4,680.90	\$125,393.49 \$60.29 \$10,449.46 \$4,822.83	\$62.06	\$132,773.61 \$ \$63.83 \$11,064.47 \$5,106.68	\$136,463.67 \$65.61 \$11,371.97 \$5,248.60	\$140,153.73 \$67.38 \$11,679.48 \$5,390.53
State Patrol Trooper Performing Pilot duties	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-Weekly	\$73,700.22 \$35.43 \$6,141.69 \$2,834.62	\$76,881.93 \$36.96 \$6,406.83 \$2,957.00	\$80,063.64 \$38.49 \$6,671.97 \$3,079.37	\$83,245.34 \$40.02 \$6,937.11 \$3,201.74	\$86,427.05 \$41.55 \$7,202.25 \$3,324.12	\$89,608.76 \$43.08 \$7,467.40 \$3,446.49	\$92,790.46 \$44.61 \$7,732.54 \$3,568.86	\$95,972.17 \$46.14 \$7,997.68 \$3,691.24	\$99,153.88 \$47.67 \$8,262.82 \$3,813.61	\$102,335.58 \$49.20 \$8,527.97 \$3,935.98	\$105,517.29 \$50.73 \$8,793.11 \$4,058.36	\$108,699.00 \$52.26 \$9,058.25 \$4,180.73	\$111,880.70 \$53.79 \$9,323.39 \$4,303.10
State Patrol Sergeant Performing Pilot duties	Annual Hourly Monthly Bi-We ekly	\$43.47 \$7,535.15	\$94,284.87 \$45.33 \$7,857.07 \$3,626.34	\$98,147.99 \$47.19 \$8,179.00 \$3,774.92	\$102,011.10 \$49.04 \$8,500.93 \$3,923.50	\$105,874.22 \$50.90 \$8,822.85 \$4,072.09	\$109,737.33 \$52.76 \$9,144.78 \$4,220.67	\$113,600.45 \$54.62 \$9,466.70 \$4,369.25	\$117,463.56 \$56.47 \$9,788.63 \$4,517.83	\$58.33	\$60.19	\$129,052.91 \$ \$62.04 \$10,754.41 \$4,963.57	\$63.90	\$136,779.14 \$65.76 \$11,398.26 \$5,260.74

SLEBC -- STATE OF NEBRASKA LABOR CONTRACT

					API	PENDIX E	PAY PLA	N July 1,	2026							
		Ste p	Step	Step	Step	Step	Step	Step	Step	Step	Step	Ste p	Step	Step	Step	Step
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
~								*• • • • • •	***	****				****		***
Game & Parks	Annual				\$66,892.32								\$88,079.32	\$90,727.70	\$93,376.07	\$96,024.45
Conservation Officer	Hourly	\$28.34	\$29.61	\$30.89	\$32.16	\$33.43	\$34.71	\$35.98	\$37.25	\$38.53	\$39.80	\$41.07	\$42.35	\$43.62	\$44.89	\$46.17
	Monthly	\$4,912.27	\$5,132.96	\$5,353.66	\$5,574.36	\$5,795.06	\$6,015.76	\$6,236.45	\$6,457.15	\$6,677.85	\$6,898.55	\$7,119.25	\$7,339.94	\$7,560.64	\$7,781.34	\$8,002.04
	Bi-Weekly	\$2,267.20	\$2,369.06	\$2,470.92	\$2,572.78	\$2,674.64	\$2,776.50	\$2,878.36	\$2,980.22	\$3,082.08	\$3,183.95	\$3,285.81	\$3,387.67	\$3,489.53	\$3,591.39	\$3,693.25
Game and Parks	Annual	\$72,337.41	\$75,585.30	\$78,833.19	\$82,081.08	\$85,328.97	\$88,576.86	\$91,824.75	\$95,072.64	\$98,320.53	\$101,568.42	\$104,816.31	\$108,064.20	\$111,312.09	\$114,559.98	\$117,807.87
Sergeant	Hourly	\$34.78	\$36.34	\$37.90	\$39.46	\$41.02	\$42.59	\$44.15	\$45.71	\$47.27	\$48.83	\$50.39	\$51.95	\$53.52	\$55.08	\$56.64
	Monthly	\$6,028.12	\$6,298.77	\$6,569.43	\$6,840.09	\$7,110.75	\$7,381.40	\$7,652.06	\$7,922.72	\$8,193.38	\$8,464.04	\$8,734.69	\$9,005.35	\$9,276.01	\$9,546.67	\$9,817.32
	Bi-We ekly	\$2,782.21	\$2,907.13	\$3,032.05	\$3,156.96	\$3,281.88	\$3,406.80	\$3,531.72	\$3,656.64	\$3,781.56	\$3,906.48	\$4,031.40	\$4,156.32	\$4,281.23	\$4,406.15	\$4,531.07
Game and Parks	Annual	\$64,138.88	\$67,019.03	\$69,899.17	\$72,779.32	\$75,659.47	\$78,539.61	\$81,419.76	\$84,299.90	\$87,180.05	\$90,060.20	\$92,940.34	\$95,820.49	\$98,700.64	\$101,580.78	\$104,460.93
Investigation Office r	Hourly	\$30.84	\$32.22	\$33.61	\$34.99	\$36.37	\$37.76	\$39.14	\$40.53	\$41.91	\$43.30	\$44.68	\$46.07	\$47.45	\$48.84	\$50.22
	Monthly	\$5,344.91	\$5,584.92	\$5,824.93	\$6,064.94	\$6,304.96	\$6,544.97	\$6,784.98	\$7,024.99	\$7,265.00	\$7,505.02	\$7,745.03	\$7,985.04	\$8,225.05	\$8,465.07	\$8,705.08
	Bi-We ekly	\$2,466.88	\$2,577.65	\$2,688.43	\$2,799.20	\$2,909.98	\$3,020.75	\$3,131.53	\$3,242.30	\$3,353.08	\$3,463.85	\$3,574.63	\$3,685.40	\$3,796.18	\$3,906.95	\$4,017.73

APPENDIX F FIRE MARSHAL

- F.1 At the Fire Marshal, vehicles provided to uniformed Deputies in the bargaining unit shall be uniform in color.
- F.2 The State Fire Marshal will provide bargaining unit members with a smart phone with hotspot activation to facilitate communications.

APPENDIX G VACATION BIDDING FORM

Name):
	<u>Priority 1 Bid</u> Bid blocks must be a minimum of 7 consecutive days but no more than 15 consecutive days
1	
	Priority 2 Bids Bid blocks can be single days or multiple days
1.	
2.	
3.	
4.	
5.	
6.	
7.	
8.	
<u>9.</u>	
<u> </u>	

SIGNATURE PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands this 15th day of Juney, 2025.

FOR THE COUNCIL

Gary Young, Chief Negotiator State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council

James Estwick, SLEBC President State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council

FOR THE STATE

Jim Pillen, Governor

State of Nebraska

Dan Birdsall, Administrator Employee Relations State of Nebraska

14 Monte⁽Daft

SLEBC Bargaining Coordinator State Law Enforcement Bargaining Council

Sean Davis, State Personnel Director State of Nebraska

INDEX

	<u>PAGE</u>	ARTICL	<u>E</u> <u>SECTION</u>
Adoption Leave	40	11	11.12
Agency (Definition)	2	2	
Agreement, Duration of	73	34	
Arbitration			
Grievances	18	8	8.5
Association (Definition)	2	2	
Association Officer (Definition)	2	2 2 3 2 5	
Association Representative (Definition)	2 2 3	2	
Bargaining Unit (Definition)	2	2	
Bargaining Unit Classes	3	3	3.1
Bargaining Unit Member (Definition)	2	2	
Bulletin Boards	8	5	5.3.5
Call-Back Time	59	24	24.7
Catastrophic Illness Donation	39	11	11.11
Civil Leave			
Court Appearances	35	11	11.7.4
Election Board Duty	35, 28	11, 24	11.7.2, 24.1.8
Jury Duty	35	11	11.7.1
Voting Time	35	11	11.7.3
Class Specification (Definition)	2	2	
Classification (Definition)	2	2 2	
Classification Seniority (Definition)	2	2	
Committees	47	17	
Compensatory Time	28, 29	10	10.6, 10.7
Council (Definition)	3	2	
Council Business	7	5	5.3
Council President	9	5	5.5
Council Recognition	3	3	3.1
Day/Workday (Definition)	3	2	
Days Off	24, 26	10	10.1.3 - 10.1.10
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP)	71	32	32.2
Dental Insurance	56	22	22.3
Detached Duty Pay	27	10	10.4.1
Director/Agency Head or Designee (Definition) Disciplinary Action-Game and Parks & Fire Ma	3 rshal	2	
Citizen Complaint	151121	7	7.8
Due Process	15	7	7.8
Forms of	10	7	7.5
Imposition of	10, 17	, 7	7.2, 7.10
Imposition of	10, 17	,	1.2, 1.10

	PAGE	ARTICLE	SECTION
Disciplinary Action-Game and Parks &	& Fire Marshal (conti	nued)	
Informal Resolution Process	13	7	7.7.8
Investigation Time Limitations	16	7	7.9.3
Investigatory Process	12	7	7.7
Investigatory Suspension	11	7	7.5
Mitigating Circumstance Meeting	14	7	7.7.9, 7.7.10
Notification	11	7	7.4
Supervisory Observation Form	12	7	7.6.3
Disciplinary Action-Patrol			
Disciplinary Process	68	29	29.8
Due Process	64	29	29.3
Forms of	62	29	29.1.1
Written Warning	63	29	29.2.4
Imposition of	63	29	29.2
Investigatory Suspension	64	29	29.5
Notification	64	29	29.4
Outside Employment	70	29	29.10
Procedure & Safeguards	66	29	29.7
Routine Supervisory Guidance	65	29	29.6
Drug and Alcohol Testing	73	35	
Dues Check-Off	6	5	5.1
Emergency (Definition)	3	2	
Emergency Conditions	70	30	30.1
Employee (Definition)	3	2	
Employee Assistance Program	61	27	
Employer (Definition)	3	2	
Equipment	51	20	
Expense Allowance	55	21	21.4
Family and Medical Leave	36	11	11.10
Fire Marshal Appendix	87	Appendix F	
Fiscal Year (Definition)	3	2	
Funeral Leave	34	11	11.4
Garrity Warning	13, 14, 63, 66, 82	7, 29, Appendix D	7.7.8,7.7.9 29.1.4, 29.7.4
Grant Overtime	58	24	29.1.4, 29.7.4 24.11
Grievances			
Arbitration	18	8	8.5
Discovery	19	8	8.6
Forms	18	8	8.5
General Provisions	20	8	8.7
Mediation	20	8	8.7
Procedure	18	8	8.5

	PAGE	ARTICLE	SECTION
Grievances (continued)			
Step 1	18	8	8.5
Step 2	18	8	8.5
Step 3	18	8	8.5
Hardship Transfer Request	72	33	33.2
Hazardous Duty Pay	27	10	10.4.2
Health Insurance	56	22	22.1
Holiday Leave			
Part-Time Employees	30	11	11.1.2
Scheduled Dates	29	11	11.1.1
Weekend Holidays	30	11	11.1.3
Work on a Holiday	30	11	11.1.4
Hours of Work			
Meal Period	26	10	10.2
Work Period	24	10	10.1
Workday	26	10	10.3
Injury Leave	34	11	11.5.3
Injury On Duty	34	11	11.5
Insurance	56	22	
Investigatory Suspension	11, 64	7, 29	7.5, 29.5
Labor Management Committee	47	17	17.1
Layoffs-Recall-Reinstatement	48	18	
Leave for Part-Time Employees	36	11	11.9
Leave of Absence	36	11	11.8
Legal Defense and Liability			
Claims Indemnification	61	25	
Life Insurance	56	22	22.2
Lockouts, Prohibition of	9	6	
Long Term Disability Insurance	56	22	22.4
Management Rights	4	4	
Meal Allowance	60	24	24.9
Meal Period	26	10	10.2.1
Mentorship Leave	40	11	11.13
Military Leave	35	11	11.6
Moving Expenses	44, 79	14, Appendix C	14.1
Non-Discrimination	6	5	5.2
Outside Employment Overtime	41	12	
Authorization	59	24	24.3.1, 24.6
Call Back Time	59	24	24.7
		- ·	2,

	PAGE	<u>ARTICLE</u>	SECTION
Computation of	58	24	24.1
Overtime (continued)			
Daylight Savings Time	60	24	24.8
Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)	59	24	24.2
Grant Overtime	60	24	24.11
Meal Allowance	60 60	24	24.11
Payment of	59	24	24.5
Rate	59	24	24.3
Tuto	57		21.3, 21.1
Patrol (Definition)	3	2	
Pay Plan	83	Appendix E	
Payroll Deduction Forms			
Payroll Deduction Authorization	77	Appendix A	
Revocation of Payroll Deduction	78	Appendix B	
Personnel Files or Personnel Records (Definition) 3	2	
Personnel Records	46	16	16.3
Policies and Procedures (Definition)	3	2	
Policies and Procedures	45	16	16.1, 16.2
Preamble	2	1	1.1
Printing	62	28	
Probationary Period			
Extension of	57	23	23.1
Original	57	23	23.1
Promotion	58	23	23.3
Separation	58	23	23.2
Transfer	58	23	23.2
Promotions	44, 53	15, 21	23.3
Tomotions	11,00	10, 21	21.5
Residency	43	13	
Resignation	72	33	33.4
Safety Committee	47	17	17.2
Savings Clause	47 71	31	1/.2
Seniority	/ 1	51	
Breaks in Service	22	9	9.5
Calculation of	22	9	9.3 9.1
			9.1
Filling Vacancies	23 23	9 9	9.11 9.9
Lists Sociarity Data - Lawar Day Line			
Seniority Date – Lower Pay Line	23	9	9.10
Ties in	22	9	9.7
Transfer outside Bargaining Unit	21	9	9.4
Transfer within Bargaining Unit	21	9	9.2
Upon Promotion	21	9	9.3
Uses of	22	9	9.6
Work Areas	22	9	9.8

	PAGE	<u>ARTICLE</u>	SECTION
Service Anniversary Date (Definition)	3	2	
Shift Bidding	24, 28	10	10.1.7, 10.5.1.2
Shift Designation (Patrol) Sick Leave	27	10	10.5
Earning	33	11	11.3
Maximum Accumulation	34	11	11.3.3
Payment	34	11	11.3.4
Reasons for Use	33	11	11.3.1
Reinstatement	34	11	11.3.5
Request for Use	33	11	11.3.2
Strikes, Prohibition of	9	6	
Superintendent (Definition)	3	2	
Time Sheets	60	24	24.10
Transfers			
Hardship	72	33	33.2
Involuntary	72	33	33.3
Voluntary	72	33	33.1
TRICARE	56	22	22.1.1
Tuition Assistance	61	26	
Uniforms and Equipment	51	20	
Vacation Leave			
Approval/Denial	33	11	11.2.3.1
Balancing	32	11	11.2.2
Earning Schedule	31	11	11.2
Payment of	32	11	11.2.3
Scheduling	31	11	11.2.1
Annual Vacation Bidding Form	88	Appendix G	
Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association	56	22	22.5
Wage Administration	52	21	
Wellness Program	71	32	
Workday	26	10	10.3
Working Out of Classification	51	19	- •••

Letters of Agreement are at the end of this contract.